Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1788 (2009) 1213-1228



Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

# Aquaporins are multifunctional water and solute transporters highly divergent in living organisms

### D. Gomes <sup>a</sup>, A. Agasse <sup>a,\*</sup>, P. Thiébaud <sup>b</sup>, S. Delrot <sup>c</sup>, H. Gerós <sup>a,d</sup>, F. Chaumont <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Departamento de Biologia, Universidade do Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

<sup>b</sup> UMR 5164 – CNRS, Université Victor Ségalen Bordeaux 2, 146, rue Léo Saignat, Bât 1B BP 14, 33076 Bordeaux Cedex, France

<sup>c</sup> Université de Bordeaux, ISVV, Institut des Sciences de la Vigne et du Vin, Domaine de la Grande Ferrade, INRA, BP 81, 33883 Villenave d'Ornon Cedex, France

<sup>d</sup> Centro de Investigação e de Tecnologias Agro-Ambientais e Biológicas (CITAB), Portugal

<sup>e</sup> Institut des Sciences de la Vie, Université Catholique de Louvain, Croix du Sud 5-15, B-1348 Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 August 2008 Received in revised form 9 March 2009 Accepted 11 March 2009 Available online 25 March 2009

Keywords: Aquaporin Aquaglyceroporin Aquaporin specificity MIP NPA Plant aquaporin

#### ABSTRACT

Aquaporins (AQPs) are ubiquitous membrane proteins whose identification, pioneered by Peter Agre's team in the early nineties, provided a molecular basis for transmembrane water transport, which was previously thought to occur only by free diffusion. AQPs are members of the Major Intrinsic Protein (MIP) family and often referred to as water channels. In mammals and plants they are present in almost all organs and tissues and their function is mostly associated to water molecule movement. However, recent studies have pointed out a wider range of substrates for these proteins as well as complex regulation levels and pathways. Although their relative abundance in plants and mammals makes it difficult to investigate the role of a particular AQP, the use of knock-out and mutagenesis techniques is now bringing important clues regarding the direct implication of specific AQPs in animal pathologies or plant deficiencies. The present paper gives an overview about AQP structure, function and regulation in a broad range of living organisms. Emphasis will be given on plant AQPs where the high number and diversity of these transport proteins, together with some emerging aspects of their functionalities, make them behave more like multifunctional, highly adapted channels rather than simple water pores.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1214					
2.	Structural features	1214					
3.	Aquaporins in microorganisms	1215					
4.	Aquaporins in invertebrates and amphibians						
5.	Mammalian aquaporins	1217					
	5.1. Aquaporins in the kidney	1218					
	5.2. Aquaporins in the brain	1219					
6.	Plant aquaporins	1219					
	6.1. PIP subfamily	1219					
	6.2. TIP subfamily	1220					
	6.3. NIP subfamily	1220					
	6.4. SIP subfamily	1221					
7.	7. Regulation of aquaporin function and expression.						
8.	Conclusions and perspectives	1223					
Ack	Acknowledgements						
Refe	References						

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +351 253 604310; fax: +351 253678980. *E-mail address:* aliceagasse@yahoo.fr (A. Agasse).

<sup>0005-2736/\$ –</sup> see front matter @ 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.03.009

#### 1. Introduction

Water is the main component of all living cells, and water exchange may be considered as a property of life [1]. At the extracellular level, water is the main component of biological fluids, allowing, for instance, the long distance trafficking of important solutes such as sugars and ions in human blood and plant phloem sap. At the extracellular/intracellular interface, water exchange through the plasma membrane maintains the osmolality of the cytoplasm and thus the integrity of the cell. At the molecular level, water is involved in the configuration of some important molecules (*e.g.* plant hydrophilins [2]). Indeed, water is a polar molecule and displays electrostatic properties, forming hydrogen bonds, that confer its capacity of interacting with solutes but also participates in the stability and specificity of protein–protein and protein–DNA interactions [3,4]. Water is also involved in metabolic processes such as cellular respiration and photosynthesis in plants [5].

The biological membrane surrounding living cells is not a pure lipidic bilayer. There is a simple diffusion of water through a lipidic membrane but it does not explain the high velocity of water exchange observed, for instance, in red blood cell membranes [6], nor the lowenergy activation observed for such phenomena [7,8]. Furthermore, first measurements of water movement and its effective re-absorption through kidney proximal tubules comforted the hypothesis of some specific path for water molecules trafficking [9,10]. In accordance to previous data reported by Pfeffer [11], these observations strengthened the idea of the existence of selective water pores in biological membranes. Many clues of their presence were then provided in a broad variety of organs such as in salivary glands, eyes and brain (reviewed by [12]). However, the molecular basis for the water transport phenomenon was first identified by the team of Peter Agre. A 28 kDa protein, subsequently known as CHIP28, was purified from red blood cells and renal proximal tubule membranes [13,14], characterized as a water channel in Xenopus oocytes and re-named as AQP1 for aquaporin-1 [15,16]. The corresponding cDNA was cloned and the deduced amino acid sequence related to the ancient family of membrane channels, MIP for Major Intrinsic Protein [17]. Many MIP members were then identified in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes with a most remarkable variety in plants, in which they may exert some redundant functions. The family is now referred to as AOP family, and the increase of the identified members has supported their importance for life [18]. In October 2003, The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry "for discoveries concerning channels in cell membranes", with one half of the prize to Peter Agre for the discovery of aquaporins (AQPs). Functional characterization has given new insights regarding the role of these proteins that for some members is not restricted or not linked to water movement but to the transport of non-ionic, small neutral solutes, as well as, for some isoforms, to the passage of ions, such as nitrate, chloride and ammonia. The determination of a physiological role for each AQP is impaired by their ubiquitous expression in organisms and tissues, and by the diversity of their regulation patterns, most of all in plants. However, the involvement of a specific AQP member in some diseases and the use of knock-out and mutagenesis techniques have shown the striking roles displayed by some of them.

Present review gives an overview about AQPs structure, function and regulation in some living organisms, particularly in plants where the high number and variety of these transport proteins, together with some emerging aspects of their functionalities, tend to consider them as multifunctional channels involved in many physiological processes, rather than simple water pores.

#### 2. Structural features

The MIP family comprised around 800 members in 2004 ([19]; MIPDB data base, http://genouest.org/Prot/). They cluster in 3 major

subfamilies determined by functional data, although the continuous identification of new potential substrates tends to thinner the boarders between them: i) the aquaporin (AQP) subfamily includes water and ions conducting proteins, ii) the glycerol-facilitators, which transport glycerol instead of water, and iii) the aquaglyceroporins, which allow the passage of water and small uncharged molecules like polyols, urea and arsenite, playing important roles in nutrient uptake, osmoregulation and probably other biological processes [20–22]. However, in literature, the term aquaglyceroporins is often used to define both glycerol-facilitator and aquaglyceroporins. The movement of water and other solutes through AQPs or aquaglyceroporins is a passive mechanism driven by the concentration gradient of the transported molecule.

Members of the MIP family have average molecular weights between 28 and 30 kDa, although the yeast Fps1 and Drosophila BIB proteins have higher molecular weights due to their longer hydrophobic N- and C-termini [23]. MIP members share relatively high homology and common general structure [24]. They comprise 6 transmembrane domains (TM) connected by five loops, the N- and Ctermini being cytoplasmic (Fig. 1). The primary structure can be divided into 2 similar halves (TM1-3, hemipore-1 and TM4-6, hemipore-2) that probably arose by gene duplication during evolution [25,26]. Because of its specific structure, authors often compare the MIP protein with an hourglass, the two hemipores facing each other in reverse within the membrane bilayer (Fig. 2B and C) [27]. At the center of the pore, highly conserved NPA (Asn-Pro-Ala) motifs, located at the loops B and E that form short hydrophobic helices and dip halfway into the membrane from opposite sides, face each other and participate in substrate selectivity [28,29]. The structure of several MIPs, determined after crystallisation, is available in the Protein Data Bank (PDB: http://www.pdb.org/, [30]). Proteins such as AQP1 [31], AqpZ [32], AQPO [33], GlpF [34], AqpM [35], and SoPIP2;1 [36] have enabled the conceptualization of a general structure for MIPs. In the biological membrane, MIPs are grouped as homotetramers embedded in the lipid bilayer (Fig. 2A). Each monomer functions independently as a single channel pore.

The molecular basis for MIP substrate specificity has been widely investigated and it was demonstrated that, in spite of a general highly conserved structure, differences at key areas of the MIP sequences are responsible for the differences in channel selectivity [37,38]. This variability at the primary structure defines two constriction points within the pore, referred to as the NPA constriction and the aromatic/ arginine (ar/R) selectivity filter, respectively and the selection is done through mechanisms of charge, polar and size exclusions [39,40].

The NPA region is positively charged because of the dipole moments of the two half-membrane spanning loops B and E and provokes the reorientation of the water molecule within the constriction. Here also,



**Fig. 1.** MIP topology. The primary structure of MIPs comprises 6 transmembrane domains (1–6) connected by five loops (A–E), with cytoplasmic N- and C-termini. Highly conserved NPA (Asn-Pro-Ala) motifs are located at the loops B and E and form short hydrophobic helices that fold back into the membrane from opposite sides.



**Fig. 2.** Three-dimensional structure of spinach SoPIP2;1 MIPs are grouped as tetramers in biological membranes (top view, A). Each monomer (lateral view, B) functions as a single channel pore. PyMol deduced structures of the open SoPIP2 (PDB accession code 2B5F; PyMol simulation: http://pymol.sourceforge.net [261]. The intracellular loop B and the extracellular loop E (red) fold into the membrane and interact with each other through the NPA motifs, forming a central constriction and participating to the pore selectivity (C). In addition to water, several small molecules, such as glycerol and urea, and small neutral solutes and ions, are reported to permeate some aquaporins.

the presence of a P (Pro) (voluminous and hydrophobic) promotes the interaction of the water molecule with the N (Asn) residues. Moreover, the ar/R constriction, located 8 Å up the NPA, at the entrance of the pore, also impairs the entrance of high molecular weight substrates (~2.8 Å in AQPs, ~3.4 Å in aquaglyceroporins) but it is also a checkpoint site for uncharged molecules in both AOPs and aquaglyceroporins [40]. The ar/R constriction is formed by the interaction of 4 amino acids within the pore. In AOP1 these residues are: F-58 (Phe) and H-182 (His), from TM2 and TM5, respectively, and C-191 (Cys) and R-197 (Arg) from loop E, situated at the vicinity of NPA motif [31,41]. In AQP1, the presence of such amino acids provides hydrogen bonds that confer high selectivity to water [24,42]. Other residues, located in the side-chains at the neighbourhood of the ar/R constrictions can influence the polarity and diameter of the pore. The divergence of these amino acids among MIP isoforms constitutes the major difference between AQPs and aquaglyceroporins (Fig. 3) [32,39]. Within the pore, electrostatic effects provided by the NPA repeats and the ar/R constriction result in the exclusion of protons, a feature apparently common to all AQPs [43–46]. At these points, an interruption of the hydrogen-bonded water chain constitutes a strong barrier for protons to transit across the channel [45,47]. However, the amino acids of the ar/R region (H and R) act as a hydrophilic interface that offers hydrogen bonds to promote single-file transport of water molecules. The aromatic, hydrophobic residue F facilitates the interaction of water molecules with the H and R amino acids [48]. In aquaglyceroporins, some substitutions of these key residues at this selectivity filter allow the passage of wider compounds such as glycerol. For instance the large H present in the pore of AQP1, facing the R, is substituted in an equivalent position by a smaller G residue in the aquaglyceroporins GlpF, providing a hydrophobic corner that interacts with bigger molecules [31,46]. Consequently, the pore of GlpF is approximately 1 Å wider than AQP1, and the presence of some hydrophobic amino acids favours the passage of glycerol [34,40,49].

Although NPA motifs are highly conserved in MIPs, some aquaglyceroporins present some divergence at that key sequence. For instance, in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, the traditional NPA sequences of the glycerol-facilitator Fsp1p were replaced during evolution by the unusual NPS and NLA in loops B and E, respectively, without these substitutions having affected the native glycerol-transport function of the protein. On the other hand, the substitution of conserved NPA motifs of GlpF, the bacterial closest homologue of Fps1p, abolishes the function of the protein and affects its correct expression at the plasma membrane. Additional observations point out the involvement of side chain sequences in loops and in TM, which participate in the formation of a functional pore [22,50]. Indeed, TM interactions stabilise the monomer and the overall sequence may participate to the pore conductance ability and regulation: Fps1p and GlpF, both glycerolfacilitators, differ from their substrate flexibility as indicated above. GlpF is more reluctant to substitutions at its NPA motifs, and this may be due to the side sequences of selectivity filters [39,50]. Eventually, some differences regarding the length and the sequences of the N- and Ctermini have been linked with regulation mechanisms affecting gating, protein-protein interaction or osmosensitivity [22,51,52].

#### 3. Aquaporins in microorganisms

Unlike glycerol-facilitators, AQPs are not widespread in bacteria and archea, in which water fluxes must then occur through the membrane by passive diffusion or unspecific pores [38,53]. Indeed, the



Fig. 3. Evolutionary relationships among aquaporins from bacteria, yeast, plants and mammalians. Sequence analysis was performed using DNASTAR (Lasergene). EditSeq was used to edit the sequences and multiple sequence alignments were generated with MegAlign, using the Clustal algorithm [262]. The unrooted phylogenetic tree was constructed using the PHYLIP software suit [263]. The maximum likelihood method [264] was used to resolve the phylogenetic relationship between aquaporins.

gram-positive bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* aquaglyceroporin Gla<sub>Llac</sub> transports both water and glycerol with the same efficiency [38]. The gram-negative bacterium *Escherichia coli* has 2 MIPs, GlpF and AqpZ, apparently fulfilling distinct transport functions. GlpF is an aqua-glyceroporin (glycerol-facilitator) first shown to be poorly permeable to water but transporting glycerol [54,55]. *E. coli* uses glucose and glycerol as carbon sources but glycerol is also a compatible solute. More recent data demonstrate that GlpF is a multifunctional channel, being able not only to transport both water and glycerol with a similar efficiency [21,56], but also toxic metalloids as arsenite and antimonite [57,58].

Although AqpZ allows rapid water movement [59,60], it has been suggested, but in our knowledge not proved, that ethanol, a major product of *E. coli* metabolism, could be a possible substrate for this AQP [53,61]. AqpZ is involved in cell proliferation as suggested by its preferential expression during the exponential growth phase and the rescue effect of AqpZ expression in growth-impaired double *glpf* and aqpz null mutants [38,60]. However, recent results brought by Soupene et al. [53] did not sustain this essential role of AqpZ in growth and bacteria survival. Bacteria have to adapt their intracellular osmotic pressure to survive and grow in environments where water activity frequently changes. This may be achieved by regulating the composition of the cytoplasm through the accumulation of compatible solutes and extrusion/incorporation of mineral ions or water. Both AqpZ and GlpF proteins are thought to play an important role in this response [21,59].

An AQP homologue, AqpM, has been identified in *Methanother-mobacter marburgensis*, a methanogenic thermophyle archeaon that grows in anaerobic conditions and uses CO<sub>2</sub> as sole carbon source. Apparently, AqpM is the only MIP in *M. marbugensis* and is able to transport water and glycerol at low rates, as well as CO<sub>2</sub>. In the membrane, AqpM is organised as a homotetramer. AqpM monomer differs from classical AQP as it has an extraordinary long first TM and loop A. AqpM may play an important role in water fluxes across the archeon membrane in response to osmotic stresses [62,63]. However, AqpM displays weaker efficiency in water conductance compared to

AqpZ and AQP1, its bacterial and eukaryote counterparts, respectively, suggesting that AqpM may be a multifunctional channel rather than a simple pore for water. Indeed, AqpM structure, brought by crystallisation, places it midway between the AQPs and aquaglyceroporins. It presents a wider and a more hydrophobic pore than the highly waterselective AQP; thus, the passage of larger and less polar molecule may be possible. Its role as a gas channel has been also questioned because of the ability of conducting CO<sub>2</sub>. Also, H<sub>2</sub>S, an important electron acceptor in the energy production pathway of this archeon, has been suggested as a potential substrate of AqpM [35].

The yeast S. cerevisiae possesses two highly similar AQPs genes (Aqy1 and Aqy2), but differentially regulated [64,65]. Because of mutation events, there is a genetic heterogeneity of Aqy1 and Aqy2 genes among yeast strains, affecting mainly the targeting of the corresponding proteins at the plasma membrane. Aqv1 from S. *cerevisiae*  $\Sigma$ 1278b is correctly targeted to the plasma membrane and its water transport capacity has been demonstrated in Xenopus oocytes. In contrast, Aqy2 from the same strain does not reach the plasma membrane, contrary to its homologue in S. chevalieri that was functionally expressed in oocytes [66,67]. Aqy1 expression appears to be spore-specific, even if a poor expression in the vegetative yeast cell has been previously reported. The role of Aqy1 has been linked to the decrease of water content in the newly formed spore [68]. Agy2 is expressed in the endoplasmic reticulum and the plasma membrane of exponentially growing cells. Aqy2 expression is down-regulated by a high osmolarity. Furthermore, both Aqy1 and Aqy2 seem to be involved in freezing tolerance [22,69,70].

In yeasts, glycerol-facilitators can be divided into 2 subgroups: Fps1-like and Yfl054-like aquaglyceroporins. The latter is also present in filamentous fungi which also have another subgroup characterized by the high diversity of their members, whose function is still poorly known [65,71]. Fsp1p is a glycerol-facilitator regulated by osmotic changes. Glycerol acts as a compatible solute in yeasts. Under hyperosmotic stress, the yeast produces glycerol and accumulates it, reducing the activity of the Fsp1p channels at the membrane. When the osmolarity of the external medium decreases, Fsp1p opens to

release glycerol, adapting the cell turgor. Fsp1p can also mediate the entrance of glycerol into the cell; however fsp1-deleted cells are able to grow in media with glycerol as sole carbon source, suggesting a minor role of Fsp1p on glycerol uptake [72]. In fact, it has been demonstrated that the active glycerol transporters GUP1 and GUP2, play major roles in glycerol influx in yeasts [73,74]. Conserved amino acids in the long hydrophilic N- and C-termini are involved in the functionality and regulation of the Fsp1p protein: the N-terminal is essential for the response to external osmolarity (reviewed by [22]). Interestingly, Fsp1p has been shown to transport metalloids, and then to be involved in the resistance to these toxic compounds [58]. Yfl054like aquaglyceroporins are common to yeast and filamentous fungi. Such a protein constitutes the unique aquaglyceroporin of the yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe, a highly divergent yeast. Neither the subcellular location nor the physiological role of this protein is well established yet [22].

In the Protoctista, AQPs have been isolated from *Plasmodium*, *Toxoplasma*, *Leishmania*, *Trypanosoma* and *Dictyostelium* (reviewed by [75]). As stated by the authors increasing attention is being directed to the promising potential of developing AQP inhibitors as therapeutics against some of these extremely important protozoan parasites.

#### 4. Aquaporins in invertebrates and amphibians

In a recent paper of Campbell et al. [75] the current state of knowledge of invertebrate AQPs is extensively reviewed. They propose a classification system of insect AQPs, by phylogenetic analysis of the total AQP complement of several completed insect genomes, and discuss the physiological role of AQPs in invertebrates (insects, ticks and nematodes), including their function in common invertebrate phenomena such as high-volume liquid diets, cryoprotection and anhydrobiosis. However, although invertebrates represent about 97% of all Animalia, only 6 invertebrate species have had one or more AQPs, at least partially, functionally characterized. Drosophila species each contain seven AQP homologues while the mosquitoes Aedes aegypti, Anopholes gambiae and Culex pipiens have five homologues. The leafhopper (Cicadella viridis) AQPcic, the first insect AQP to be functionally expressed in oocytes, is specific to water transport. None of the additional insect AOPs expressed in oocytes up to now have shown the capacity of channeling glycerol or urea.

From these six invertebrate species, the model nematode *Caenor-habditis elegans*, is the sole non-insect species from which AQPs have been studied. Eleven genes encoding MIPs (from aqp-1 to aqp-11) have been identified in the *C. elegans* genome [76], 8 of which have been expressed in *Xenopus* oocyte transport assays [75]. Aqp1, aqp3 and aqp7 are aquaglyceroporins, whereas aqp-2, aqp-4 and aqp-6 are strict water channels. These proteins are expressed in several *C. elegans* cell types and osmoregulatory tissues, such as the intestine, excretory cells, and hypodermis. However, mutations experiments demonstrated that AQPs involvement in animal whole osmoregulation is not crucial [77].

In amphibians, over 17 MIPs have been identified. They are classified into 6 clusters, clusters 1, 2, 3 and 5 and clusters a1 and a2, the latter being specific to anurans. AQPa2-like proteins may be involved in the terrestrial adaptation of anurans (for a review see [78]). *Xenopus laevis* oocytes are the favourite model for MIP heterologous expression and functional studies. Indeed, in spite of possessing MIPs, because of their size (1.0–1.3 mm diameter), robustness and natural low membrane permeability to water, they constitute a powerful expression system for animal, plants, fungi, and prokaryotes channel proteins [15]. Due to the experimental conditions selected to perform the heterologous expression studies, native AQPs do not interfere significantly on overall water uptake by oocytes. AQPxlo, for instance, is an aquaglyceroporin permeable to water, glycerol and urea but impermeable to larger molecules and is expressed in the membrane of the oocyte [79]. AQP-x5 is homologue to the mammalian AQP5 and is

expressed in the skin, most particularly in the apical plasma membrane of secretory cells. A role of AQP-x5 in the maintenance of skin moistness and body temperature is reported [80].

#### 5. Mammalian aquaporins

After the characterization of AQP1 and its subsequent association with MIP, 11 other mammalian homologues were cloned and studied. They are mostly associated with fluids formation [81]. The 13 AQP proteins, from AQP0 (the original member previously discovered in bovine lens cells [82]) to AQP12, are clustered into 3 functional groups according to their permeability characteristics [75,83]: i) water channels, ii) aquaglyceroporins, and iii) aquaporins with unknown substrate specificity. AQP0, AQP1, AQP2, AQP4, AQP5, AQP6 and AQP8 are considered water channels; however, AQP0, AQP1 and AQP6 also permeate nitrate and chloride ions, and AQP8 ammonia [24,84–86].

AQP3, AQP7, AQP9 and AQP10 are aquaglyceroporins, a subfamily usually permeable to water, glycerol, urea and to a limited number of small neutral solutes [24,87]. However, AQP10 is permeable to water, but not to glycerol and urea [88]. AQP9 is a neutral solute channel, permeable to water, glycerol, urea, purines, pyrimidines and monocarboxylates [89]. AQP7 and AQP9 are also able to transport arsenite [90].

AQP11 and AQP12 present only 20% of sequence homology with the MIP family and cluster together with plant SIPs (Fig. 3). Indeed, they have a different "NPA" box at the HB helix (NPC and NPT, respectively), and AQP11 has a C-terminal extremity with a putative ER-related retention signal (Table 1). Both unusual AQPs are intracellular proteins, even AQP12 that lacks this ER retention signal [91]. AQP11, which displays a crucial role in ER integrity maintenance [92], failed to display water permeability in oocytes, but transports water when reconstituted in liposomes, with efficiency comparable to AQP1 [93]. AQP12 substrate specificity is still unknown (for a review, see [24,93–95]). It is remarkable that some conventional AQPs, such as AQP6 and AQP10, have also been found in intracellular structures of the cell. AQP6 is almost exclusively intracellular and may be associated with the endosome [85]. Furthermore, although it does not belong to the group of intracellular aquaporins, AQP6 has a putative ER-related retention signal. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that the Nterminus confers its retention in intracellular membranes [96]. Water movements inside the cell are essential for its survival, as they are involved in cellular activity and signalling [95,97]. These particular locations, together with the broad specificity observed for AQP6 and predicted for SIPs, suggest a major role of these proteins in intracellular structures that deserves further investigation [95].

AQPs are relatively ubiquitous in mammalian organism and are usually not restricted to a sole tissue. However, their specific distribution in certain cell types of an organ often reflects a precise

Table 1

*In silico* comparative study of 12 putative members of intracellular aquaporins with Wolf PSORT (http://wolfpsort.org/) and SosuiSignal (http://bp.nuap.nagoya-u.ac.jp/ sosui/sosuisignal/sosuisignal\_submit.html) programmes.

AQP	N-myristoylation	1 <sup>st</sup> "NPA" motif	ER retention signal (N-terminal)	2nd NPA motif	ER retention signal (C-terminal)
AtSIP1;1	-	NPT	-	NPA	KKQKKA
AtSIP1;2	-	NPC	-	NPA	KKQKKA
AtSIP2;1	-	NPL	GRIG	NPA	KAKSE
ZmSIP1;1	MAMGATVRA	NPC	-	NPA	KTKK
ZmSIP1;2	-	NPT	-	NPA	KAKK
ZmSIP2;1	-	NPL	-	NPA	KIKK
VvSIP1	MGVIKAA	NPT	-	NPA	KQKKA
VvSIP2	-	NPL	AKIR	NPA	KAKSE
OeSIP1;1	MRAIKVAIA	NPT	RAIK	NPA	KKQKKA
OeSIP1;2	MGAIKAA	NPT	-	NPA	KAKK
AQP11	-	NPC	-	NPA	INKK
AQP12	?	NPT	-	NPA	-

function. Because they increase water membrane permeability, AQPs are important actors of fluid homeostasis maintenance and secretion/ re-absorption. In lungs and airways for instance, AOPs maintain airway humidification by driving water transport across the endothelial and epithelial barriers. AQPO is present in the eye lens and its mutation provokes cataracts formation [98]. AQP1, the first characterized AQP, is mostly expressed in red blood cells, brain, lungs and kidneys and is associated with water re-absorption and fluid secretion [99]. AQP1-null mice and humans with AQP1 mutation have shown reduced urinary concentration (see below) [100,101]. Recently, it has been suggested that AQP1 is involved in cerebrospinal fluid secretion [102]. AQP2 is expressed in kidney collecting duct and is permeable to water [103]. AQP2 mutations can cause an autosomal form of hereditary nephrogenic diabetes insipidus in humans [104]. AQP3 is also expressed in different tissues including kidney collecting duct, skin, conjunctiva of the eye, oesophagus, colon, spleen, stomach, small intestine, and urinary bladder, and respiratory tract airway epithelium. It is permeable to water and glycerol and may be important for proper skin hydration and elasticity [103,105,106]. Mice lacking AQP3 manifest nephrogenic diabetes insipidus with polyuria, polydipsia, and urinary hypoosmolality [107]. AQP4 is permeable to water and expressed in astroglial cells at blood-brain barrier and spinal cord, kidney collecting duct, glandular epithelia, airways, skeletal muscle, stomach and retina [103]. In the brain, AQP4 null mice showed altered cerebral water balance with protection from brain edema (see below) [108]. AQP5 is permeable to water and expressed in glandular epithelia, corneal epithelium, alveolar epithelium and gastrointestinal tract [103]. Saliva production in the parotid gland is a sympathetically controlled phenomenon which involves the re-localization of AQP5 into the plasma membrane of the secretory cells [109]. The important role of AQP5 in homeostasis is evidenced by AQP5-null mice which have reduced fluid secretions [103]. Defective cellular trafficking of AQP5 in salivary [110] and lacrimal [111] glands has been associated to the Sjörgren's syndrome, an autoimmune disease characterized by deficient secrection of tears and saliva. For a review on the expression, localization and function of AQPs in salivary and lacrimal glands and pancreas, and the role of multiple water and ion transporters and channels in exocrine fluid secretion see [112]. AQP6 is thought to be involved in chloride permeability and is expressed in kidney collecting duct intercalated cells [103]. AOP7 is involved in water and glycerol permeability and is expressed mainly in adipose tissue, and in testis, heart, skeletal muscle and kidney proximal tubule [103,113]. In adipocytes, AQP7 is known to facilitate the secretion of glycerol, which constitutes a key metabolite in the control of fat accumulation and glucose metabolism [114]. AOP8 is permeable to water and is expressed in liver, pancreas intestine, salivary gland, testis and heart [103]. It was suggested to be involved in cAMP stimulated bile secretion by Garcia et al. [115]. AQP9 is expressed in liver, white blood cells, testis and brain, and is involved in water and small solutes permeability [103]. The functional role of AQP9 in the brain is still unknown, but its permeability to glycerol and lactate indicates that it may play a role in energy metabolism [102,116]. Studies performed with mice lacking AQP9 and leptin receptor function, developed obese mice, with type II diabetes and increased lipolysis and glycerol production [117]. AQP10 is thought to be involved in water and glycerol permeability and is expressed in small intestine [103]. AQP11 is expressed in kidney, testis, liver, brain, intestine, heart, and adipose tissue, but its function is still unknown [103,106,118]. AQP12 seems to be expressed specifically in pancreatic acinar cells, and as well as AQPO and AQP11, it has not been characterized functionally. AQP12-knock-out mice have not been generated, and no human diseases have been credited to mutations in the AQP12 gene [103,106]. The involvement of AQPs in many human diseases such as glaucoma, obesity or cancer, is now well reported. Indeed, AQPs are strongly expressed in tumor cells and promote cell migration [119]. Migration is a fundamental property of cells that occurs during many physiological and pathological processes including organogenesis in the embryo, repair of damaged tissue after injury, the inflammatory response, formation of new blood vessels, and the spread of cancer. AQP dependent cell migration has been found in a variety of cell types in vitro and in mice in vivo [120]. AQP1 deletion reduces endothelial cell migration, limiting tumor angiogenesis and growth. AQP4 deletion slows the migration of reactive astrocytes, impairing glial scarring after brain stab injury. AQPs are conducive to migration by facilitating the rapid cell volume changes and augmenting cell propulsion. The emerging roles of water movement in cell migration are not only important in the mechanistic understanding of the migration process, but may also have a wide range of therapeutic implications (for a review, see [121]). Thus, the modification of AQP function or expression constitutes a promising target to develop new drugs and provide a treatment of several diseases (reviewed by [122]). The following paragraphs focus on AQPs in kidney and brain that illustrate well the diversity, regulation and physiological roles of these proteins in mammalians.

#### 5.1. Aquaporins in the kidney

In the kidney, at least 8 AOPs homologues are expressed: AOP1 to 4, and AOP6 to 8 and AOP11 (for a review see [123,124]. AOP1 is most particularly expressed in the nephrons where it allows the retrieval of water from the primary urine. To remove toxic wastes and the high concentration of ions that alters the pH, blood is filtrated in the glomerulus of the nephron. The passage of ions is accompanied by osmosis, thus the resulting primary filtrate is rich in water that must be reabsorbed. Passing trough the Henle's loop, water is retrieved from the filtrate in the proximal convoluted tubules and the thin descending limbs that exhibit high water permeability. Indeed, AQP1 proteins are constitutively expressed in these epithelia, at both the apical brush border facing the tubule lumen and the basolateral membranes of these cells. Water is passively reabsorbed, driven by osmotic gradients [125]. However, a major difference in AQP1 expression exists between the types of nephrons that compose the kidney: in short loop variety, AQP1 is expressed only in proximal tubules but not in the descending thin loop, whereas it is expressed in both sites in long loop nephrons [123,126,127]. Recently, Zhai et al. [128] suggested that the role of AQP1 as the major water re-absorption mechanism should be re-investigated. The gene AQP1 is disrupted in some human patients impairing the production of the corresponding aquaporin. Thus, these individuals are true AOP1-null mutants. Their red blood cells present basal but sufficient permeability not compromising a normal life. However their urine concentration cannot reach more than half the maximal concentration reached by the urine of a normal person, expressing AQP1, but such a defect is balanced by the relative free access to water in our modern societies [8,129].

AQP2 is expressed in the collecting duct of the nephron whose permeability to water is induced by the physiologic concentration of vasopressin, an anti-diuretic brain secreted hormone [125,130–132]. In normal conditions, AQP2 proteins were shown to be very poorly expressed at the apical membrane of the epithelia cells but were located in membranes of intracellular vesicles. In dehydration conditions, as fluid volume decreases and plasma osmolality increases in the body, vasopressin is released from the brain and AQP2 is relocated by exocytose to the apical border, increasing the water permeability and the re-absorption of water from the urine. Water is then transferred to the vascular space via AQP3 and AQP4 proteins expressed at the basolateral membranes of the conduction duct cells [126,132–134]. AQP3 is also responsive to vasopressin but not AQP1 nor AQP4 [135]. AQP2 and AQP3 are also inducible by ethanol [136].

Several pathogenesis result from an incorrect level of AQP2 in the conducting duct principal cells. An overexpression of AQP2 is triggered by heart failure and leads to water retention [137]. A defect in AQP2 function has been shown to cause the congenital nephrogenic

diabetes insipidus disease (NDI), a human hereditary disorder that impairs the concentration of urine in response to vasopressin. Studied mutants in AQP2 presented amino acid substitutions that affect the folding of the protein and maturation thus impairing its trafficking to the plasma membrane [132,138].

#### 5.2. Aquaporins in the brain

A detailed overview regarding brain aquaporins is presented in two excellent reviews [139,140]. Here we will briefly recall some important aspects regarding the involvement of brain AQPs in fluids production and homeostasis.

At least 6 AQPs are present in the rodent brain: AQP1, AQP3 to 5, AQP8 and AQP9, AQP1, 4 and 9 being the best studied [136]. Brain AQPs play an important role in the production, circulation and homeostasis of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). Fluid balance (secretion, removal, fluxes and homeostasis of salts) is important for the brain survival but also neuronal excitability. Its role to the body is compared to that of the lymphatic system [141]. CSF is formed by the secretion of water and salts by the choroid plexus epithelium. AOP1 is expressed at the apical pole of these cells, whereas the mechanism of water flow through the basolateral membrane from the blood is still unknown. Interestingly, AOP1 from the choroid plexus appears to be a nonselective cation channel in Xenopus oocytes. Pharmacological and protein modelling tools suggest that the passage of Na<sup>+</sup> through AQP1 occurs through the central pore formed in the AQP1 tetramer, and that this functionality is regulated by a gating mechanism that involves intracellular cGMP. The relevance of this functionality is still not clear and seems tissue-specific [52,140,142,143]. This mechanism can participate in the rate of CSF secretion. However, some data in the literature contradicts both the putative role of cGMP as an ion channel activity enhancer, as well as the function of AQP1 as a cation channel [144]. Because choroid plexus is essential for CSF production and balance, but also a source and a target for many regulatory molecules, it is not astonishing that its functional decline is being associated with Alzheimer's disease. The putative involvement of AQP1 in this process, as a cause or a consequence is not known but it is under investigation (for review, see [140]).

AQP4 is predominantly expressed in the brain, at the blood–brain and brain-cerebrospinal fluid barriers [107,145], suggesting that it controls the water flow into and out of the brain, contributing to the maintenance of brain water homeostasis [102]. AQP4 is widely expressed in the brain glial cells, mainly in astrocytes, and most particularly at their end-feet structures surrounding blood vessels. Studies using AQP4 knock-out mice demonstrated increased protection from cytotoxic brain oedema induced by water intoxication and cerebral ischemic injury [108]. In contrast to the findings in cytotoxic brain edema, AQP4 is up-regulated during vasogenic oedema, caused by increased permeability of the blood–brain barrier, playing a key role in fluid clearance [146].

AQP4 is co-ordinately expressed at astrocytes end-feet with Kir4.1, an inward rectifier K<sup>+</sup> channel, suggesting a physiological role in K<sup>+</sup> homeostasis and neuronal activity. Potassium is released after neural excitation for the cell to recover its membrane potential. Excess of extracellular K<sup>+</sup> is retrieved by perineuronal astrocytes and exported to end-feet structures and then to blood capillaries. Astrocytes endfeet present a high K<sup>+</sup> conductance correlated with an enrichment of Kir4.1 channel and AQP4 at their membrane. K<sup>+</sup> is proposed to be released in blood as KCl, thus allowing the efflux of water through AQP4. A coordinate regulation of Kir4.1 and AQP4 is strongly strengthened by the spatial co-localization of these two channels. Furthermore, an interaction between Kir4.1 and AQP4 involving components of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex has been demonstrated [147]. Indeed, a decrease of AQP4 expression at astrocytes end-feet and the consequent swelling of these structures are associated with the Duchenne's muscular dystrophy disease. It is proposed that dystrophin plays a role in AQP4 assembly at the plasma membrane. AQP4 expression is related to brain development (postnatal expression). However, even if AQP4 is not expressed in mature neurons, a role in early neural development is suggested by its expression, along with AQP9, in forebrain subventricular zone neural stem cells. Furthermore, AQP4 is expressed in interneurons and then in Müller cells during the development of the retina [147].

A role of AQP9 in Parkinson's disease has been suggested. AQP9 is expressed in astrocytes but also in noradrenergic and dopaminergic neurones, the degenerating of the latest causing the disease. However, a putative involvement of AQP9 in this process, as a cause or as a consequence, is purely speculative and is still under investigation [139,140].

#### 6. Plant aquaporins

The tonoplast protein from Arabidopsis  $\gamma$ -TIP (AtTIP1;1) was the first plant aquaporin to be characterized. Its water channel activity was demonstrated by heterologous expression in Xenopus oocytes [148]. Since then, many other plant AQPs have been identified and cloned, and functional studies have shown their important role for the selective movement of water through the cell membranes. In fact, AQP-mediated water transport in plants is an important step in various physiological processes such as cell elongation, seed germination, and osmoregulation [149]. Comparatively with other organisms, plants appear to have a remarkable large number of MIP homologues, ubiquitously expressed [150,151]. Genome sequencing revealed the presence of 35 MIP-encoding genes in Arabidopsis [152], 36 in maize (Zea mays) [153] and 33 in rice (Oryza sativa) [154], thus far more than in mammals (13), in E. coli (2), in C. elegans (11) and in S. cerevisiae (9). The high number of plant MIP isoforms and their relative ubiquity in plant tissues may emerge from the need of continuous water absorption, flux and subsequent evaporation during plant growth and development but may also reflect a possible involvement in the transport of other solutes [149,155,156]. Four MIP subfamilies are distinguished from their sequence similarity in plants (Fig. 3), and usually reflect their subcellular location: i) the plasma membrane intrinsic proteins (PIPs), ii) the tonoplast intrinsic proteins (TIPs), iii) the nodulin26-like intrinsic proteins (NIPs) and iv) the small basic intrinsic proteins (SIPs). PIPs and TIPs are located in plasma membrane and tonoplast, respectively, whereas the subcellular location of NIPs and SIPs is still uncertain [51]. Indeed, some studies reported that some NIPs are inserted in the plasma membrane whereas other isoforms are located in intracellular membranes [157]. SIPs are located in endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [97,158]. Regardless their subcellular location, most of the studied plant MIPs confirmed their function as water channels in Xenopus oocytes. However, some MIPs are able to carry some small neutral molecules, such as glycerol, urea and even gases like CO<sub>2</sub> but also display permeability to ammonia, hydrogen peroxide and the metalloids silicon, boron, arsenite, and antimony [97,157,159-162].

#### 6.1. PIP subfamily

PIPs are plasma membrane MIPs with a molecular weight around 30 kDa and an isoelectric point of 9.0, in part due to the presence of several basic amino acids at the C-terminal extremity. PIPs have been studied in many species and the involvement of many of them in water transport successfully demonstrated. Among the 35 full-length aquaporin genes present in the *Arabidopsis* genome, 13 encode for PIPs. On the basis of their sequence similarities, two PIP subgroups can be considered: PIP1 and PIP2. The PIP1 subgroup has five members (PIP1;1 to PIP1;5), whereas the PIP2 subgroup possesses eight isoforms (PIP2;1 to PIP2;8) [149,152]. PIP1 proteins have longer N-terminal but shorter C-terminal tails compared with PIP2. Furthermore, all PIP proteins possess conserved S (Ser) amino acid residues

proposed to be essential for the protein gating by phosphorylation [163,164]. The SoPIP1 from spinach (Spinacia oleracea) displayed low water transport activity in Xenopus oocyte whereas its PIP2 homologue strongly increased the membrane water permeability [36, 165, 166]. Such results were verified for almost all plant PIPs aquaporins: with the exception of Arabidopsis PIPs isoforms, members of the PIP1 subgroup show no or poor permeability to water, whereas PIP2 related proteins function as efficient water channels [167–169]. However, recent studies performed in oocytes revealed that maize ZmPIP1;2 can be functional if it interacts with ZmPIP2s: indeed, ZmPIP1;2 is able to increase membrane water permeability when co-expressed with the functional channel ZmPIP2 in Xenopus oocytes. The observed increase in water permeability was proportional to the amount of ZmPIP1;2 cRNA injected in the oocytes *i.e.* directly linked with a water channel activity mediated by ZmPIP1;2 [51,170]. Recently, the localization and interaction of ZmPIP1s and ZmPIP2s fused to fluorescent proteins have been characterized in maize cells. When expressed alone, ZmPIP1 fusion proteins were retained in the endoplasmic reticulum, whereas ZmPIP2s were found in the plasma membrane [171]. Interestingly, when coexpressed with ZmPIP2s, ZmPIP1s were re-localized to the plasma membrane. This re-localization results from protein interactions and these data suggest that hetero-oligomerisation of ZmPIP1s and ZmPIP2s is required for trafficking of the former to the plasma membrane to modulate the cell permeability. Accordingly, the interaction between NtPIP1;1 and NtPIP2;1 results in an increase in water transport activity in Xenopus oocytes [172]. On the other hand, it has been suggested that PIP1 members can also transport other molecules such as glycerol, boric acid, urea and CO<sub>2</sub> [173]. For instance, NtAQP1, a PIP1 member from tobacco, is able to mediate glycerol transport but also permeates CO<sub>2</sub>. The capacity of NtAQP1 to mediate gas transport has been compared to AQP1: indeed, both MIPs are expressed in membranes involving high CO<sub>2</sub> traffic (red blood cells, plant cells of leaves) [174–176]. Recent evidence have pointed out the contribution of PIP1s to CO<sub>2</sub> conductance in parenchyma cells and allowed the re-evaluation of the regulatory mechanisms of photosynthesis. In fact, changes in NtAQP1 expression by antisense inhibition or overexpression affect the CO<sub>2</sub> conductance, photosynthesis and plant growth [174,177,178]. Interestingly, NtAQP1 is detected in the plasma membrane and chloroplast inner membranes where a decrease in protein amount lowers CO<sub>2</sub> permeability [177]. This role might not be restricted to the tobacco AQP1 since many PIPs are expressed at the leaf level, such as SoPIP1;1, which has a high constitutive level of expression in guard cell plasma membrane [179,180].

Finally, PIPs are generally localized in organs and tissues characterized by large fluxes of water *i.e.* vascular tissues, guard cells and flowers. For instance, AtPIP2;2 is abundantly expressed in roots, cortex, endodermis, and stele. SoPIP1;2 is highly expressed in phloem sieve elements of leaves, roots and petioles and SoPIP1;1 is present in stomatal guard cells [150,173,179]. Interestingly, AtPIP2;1 is able to transport hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), a reactive oxygen species (ROS) involved in oxidative stress but also as a messenger in plant responses to wounding or pathogen attack. PIPs would then play an important role in cell to cell communication [181].

Genetic techniques modifying the expression of PIP genes in the plants brought precious information regarding the role of these aquaporins in water transport (reviewed in [155]). Down-expression of plasma membrane *AQP* genes usually results in a decrease in cell water permeability but, this does not necessarily result in lower tissue water conductivity, probably as a consequence of the different mechanisms used by plants to deal with lower cell water permeability, for instance by increasing their root mass [150,155,182].

#### 6.2. TIP subfamily

TIPs are expressed mainly in tonoplast membrane although other subcellular locations cannot be ruled out. The vacuole occupies as much as 90% of most mature plant cells, and tonoplast is then a barrier to intracellular transport. TIPs are thus essential for intracellular movement of water and possibly of other small molecules [95]. Aquaporins are the most abundant proteins of the tonoplast [183]. This explains why the water permeability of the tonoplast is higher than that of the plasma membrane, allowing a rapid osmotic adjustment of the cytoplasm, thus maintaining osmolality and cell turgor [184]. TIPs possess a molecular weight between 25 to 28 kDa and an isoelectric point around 6.0 [185]. They are functional water channels but some of them also permeate urea, glycerol and ammonia. Interestingly, it has been recently demonstrated that AtTIP1;1, AtTIP1;2 and AtTIP2;3 can transport H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [186,187]. The tobacco NtTIPa (TIP4), for instance, transports water, urea and glycerol [188]. A common feature to all TIPs studied so far is their classical sensitivity to heavy metals when expressed in oocytes [185,189]. In maize, Arabidopsis and rice, TIP subfamily consists of five subgroups regarding their sequence homologies: TIP1 (the former  $\gamma$ TIP), TIP2, TIP3, TIP4 and TIP5. TIPs are predominantly located at the tonoplast, but some isoforms are markers of specialised organelles such as protein storage vacuoles, lytic vacuoles and small vacuoles [190,191]. Furthermore, some TIP isoforms are more related to developmental stages and/or organ specificity: for example, the expression of AtTIP2:1 ( $\delta$ TIP) is especially high in the vascular system of the shoot but is barely detectable in the root [192]. AtTIP3;1 ( $\alpha$ TIP) is highly expressed in cotyledons and associated to the membrane of protein storage vacuoles. This suggests that a specific TIP isoform is related to a specific vacuole function [190]. Furthermore, during germination, the stored proteins are degraded and there is a shift from TIP3;1 to TIP1;1 isoforms [152,164,193]. In addition, TIPs are differentially expressed during fruit maturation, for instance, in pear TIP1;1 homolog is highly expressed in the young fruit whereas in grape, TIP proteins levels gradually increase along with ripening [194,195].

Vacuole participates in cell expansion and thus, its enlargement by water compartmentation is essential to provoke the rapid fruit growth characteristic of the ripening process. The lack of specific regulation observed along fruit ripening for PIPs isoforms points out the essential role of TIPs in this process [196].

The various aspect of their expression, together with their wide specificity suggested that TIPs might play additional roles besides water transport or even an entirely different function. TIP1;1 is the most expressed AQP in both maize and *Arabidopsis*, and is expressed in all plant organs, but mainly in roots and leaves, and seems associated with cell elongation [153,197,198]. Reduction of AtTIP1;1 expression in *Arabidopsis* by RNA interference has been shown to result in early senescence, plant death, modification in primary metabolism and carbohydrate distribution whereas the relative water content of the whole plantlet is not significantly affected [199]. It has been proposed that TIP1;1 might be involved in vesicle-based metabolite routing. However, these data remain controversial as the different phenotypes have not been observed in *AtTIP1;1* knock-out *Arabidopsis* lines [200].

#### 6.3. NIP subfamily

The name of this subfamily comes from the sequence similarity of these proteins with the nodulin-26, a protein expressed at the symbiosome membrane during root infections of leguminous plants like soybean (*Glycine max*) by rhizobacteria. In such structures, nodulin-26 ensures the communication between the bacteria and the host plant, giving passage to water at the symbiotic interface. Nodulin26-like proteins (NIPs) are found in both leguminous and non-leguminous plants, located in plasma and intracellular membranes and are structurally and functionally different from other plant MIPs. They usually display low water permeability, in contrast with their nodulin-26 archetype, but are permeabile to small solutes (*i.e.* glycerol, urea). In fact, these MIPs are considered as plant aquaglyceroporins [149]. The NIP subfamily can be subdivided into two

subgroups, based on the structure of their ar/R selective filters: i) NIP1 comprises six members in Arabidopsis permeable to water and glycerol, ii) NIP2 proteins have a wider pore than those of NIP1 subgroup and are permeable to large solutes like urea. Two NIPs of the second class also present a variation in the loop B NPA motif [42,201]. The overall level of NIP expression is lower than the expression of PIPs and TIPs, and is usually associated with specialised organs and cells. For instance, AtNIP2;1 is specifically expressed in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of roots, whereas AtNIP5;1 is a plasma membrane MIP mainly expressed in root elongation zones [157,202]. Because of their particular structure and locations, NIPs appear to be involved in a striking range of processes which are still poorly known. However, studies pointed out the amazing possibilities of these particular MIPs: for instance, AtNIP5;1 (a NIP2 isoform) is transcriptionally induced by boron deficiency. Boron, and most particularly its predominant form at physiological pH, boric acid, is important for plant growth since it participates in cell wall expansion. It is taken from the soil and boron deficiency is associated with reduced shoots surface, root expansion and plant fertility. AtNIP5;1 protein efficiently transports boric acid and allows its accumulation in Xenopus oocytes whereas it displays a weak channelling capacity for water; nip5;1 mutants plants (T-DNA insertion lines) present a less developed root systems and a decreased uptake capacity of boric acid. Furthermore, these plants are more sensitive to a limitation of this specific compound. AtNIP6;1 and AtNIP7;1 may also be involved in boric acid transport in planta [157].

AtNIP2;1, a MIP expressed in differentiated roots, mediates lactic acid transport, and its expression is transcriptionally induced by anoxia, being very important to the adaptation to lactic fermentation under anaerobic stress [203].

The Rice gene Lsi1 (OsNIP2;1), related to the *Arabidopsis* NIP7;1, permeates silicon (Si), a compound involved in defence mechanisms against biotic and abiotic stresses [159,204]. In rice, Si accumulates in the shoots where silica constitutes a mechanical barrier against biotic and abiotic stresses. The expression of Lsi1 in *Xenopus* oocytes allowed the specific influx of Si, and the suppression of this gene in plant resulted in a reduction of Si uptake [159]. In contrast, Lsi2 is an efflux transporter [204]. Recently, Lsi6 (OsNIP2;2), which is responsible for the export of Si from the xylem to the shoots, has been cloned and characterized [205]. Interestingly, OsNIP2;1 is also able to transport arsenite, a form of arsenic present in culture soils [205,206]. This ability of transporting arsenite is reported for AtNIP7;1 [207] and AtNIP1;1 [208] and some mammalian and bacterial MIPs (see above).

#### 6.4. SIP subfamily

The SIP aquaporins constitute a new subfamily of MIPs identified by database mining and phylogenetic analyses [209]. Because of their low homology with other MIPs (about 20%) they were recently classified within a superfamily of intracellular AQPs [95]. They have a basic pl and highly diverge from other MIPs regarding their unusual loop B NPA sequence and shorter N-terminus that classify them into two different subgroups: i) the SIP1, subdivided into the SIP1;1 type bearing the NPT sequence instead of the classical NPA, and the SIP1;2 type bearing either the NPC or the NPT sequences, and ii) the SIP2,

>OeSIP1;1

which differs from classical MIPs in its NPL sequence. These amino acids substitutions confer a wider aperture of the pore and hence a potentially different substrate specificity [42,158]. Each type of SIP is only represented by one clone in both Arabidopsis and maize. The grape genome has only 2 SIP genes, VvSIP1, encoding a SIP1 subtype, and VvSIP2 [210]. Fig. 4 shows the deduced amino acid sequence of OeSIP1;1 recently cloned in the Portuguese lab which reveals the presence of the NPT sequence in loop B and putative motives involved in endoplasmic reticulum retention. Indeed, first experiments regarding subcellular location demonstrated that SIPs are associated with intracellular membranes and more particularly ER [97]. In this regard, they tend to strengthen the idea of a subclass of intracellular MIPs, recently suggested by the cloning and study of the mammalian AQP11 isoform. These AQPs have in common, at their C-terminal extremity, a sequence rich in positively charged amino acids (K, Lys), which is a potential ER retention signal [95,149,153] (Table 1). Yet, no sequence responsible for the retention in ER membranes has been clearly identified whereas proteins bearing the KDEL motive are retained in the lumen of the ER [158]. Myristoylation of N-terminal amino acid residue of the growing polypeptide is a co-translational modification that plays a pivotal role in membrane targeting and signal transduction in plant responses to environmental stress [211]. Myristoylation signal peptide was identified in SIP1 proteins from olive (OeSIP1;1 and OeSIP1;2), grapevine (VvSIP1) and in maize (ZmSIP1;1) and its physiological role deserves further investigation (Fig. 4, Table 1).

Water channel activity has been demonstrated for the two AtSIP1s in yeast vesicles but no activity was detected in *Xenopus* oocytes. However, AtSIP2;1 does not exhibit any water permeability in the investigated conditions and is supposed to have other function [97]. In *Arabidopsis*, each SIP seems to be expressed in a preferred range of tissues including young roots, flowers and pollen. It is remarkable that SIPs are also strongly expressed in suspension cultured cells compared to other MIPs [158]. In grape, VvSIP1 is strongly expressed in the berry at the green stage, *i.e.* when cells division is active (Agasse, unpublished data).

The potential role of such intracellular MIPs is to facilitate the intracellular water movement. As suggested for TIPs at the tonoplast, SIPs could participate in the passage of water through the ER membranes and regulate both the volume of its lumen and the ionic concentration, as well as the morphology of the organelle. As mentioned before, the crucial role of mammal AQP11 in ER integrity has been demonstrated [188].

#### 7. Regulation of aquaporin function and expression

The regulation of water transport through MIPs is complex: in a general view, mechanisms of rapid control affect the protein itself (activity, gating, and amount) whereas slower adaptative-responses through the regulation of gene expression are also involved. Structure features and experimental studies elucidated some mechanisms for substrate exclusion by MIPs but also gating, and/or turn-over. Most of the functional studies are based on heterologous expression in *Xenopus* oocytes because these cells are naturally poorly permeable to water and allow the rapid translation of the injected cRNA and targeting of the protein. They are also relatively resistant enabling application of

 MRAIKVAIADAIVTCLWVFCASSLGALTFVVASAFGVSQGLPTLLITTFLLFVLLFVFGFIGDALG

 GGATFNPTGPAAFYAAGVGGTESLVTAAVRFPAQAAGAVGGALGILEVMPVQYKHMLDCPSLK

 VDLNTGAIAEGVLTFIITFAVLYIVLRGPTNPFVKNWLLAMSTVALVVAGSSYTGPSMNPANAF

 GWAYVNNTHKTWEQFYVYWICPFIGAILAAWVFRFLFLPPPVKKQKKA

Fig. 4. Deduced amino acid sequence of OeSIP1;1 (accession number EF211089) aquaporin showing putative N-myristoylation (yellow), ER retention signals (red) and the two "NPA" repeats (blue). The putative transmembrane domains are underlined. The SIP1;1 type aquaporins contain in the loop B a NPT sequence instead of the classical NPA sequence. Sequence analysis was performed with Wolf PSORT (http://wolfpsort.org/) and SosuiSignal (http://bp.nuap.nagoyau.ac.jp/sosui/sosuisignal/sosuisignal\_submit.html) programmes.

pharmacological compounds in the study of channel functionality [212]. However, several other studies have been processed in yeasts and yeast vesicles, taking advantage of the poor expression of endogenous MIPs in most of laboratory yeast strains and their relatively easy transformation and manipulation [67]. Yet, the protein expressed in the foreign environment may behave differently, in the absence of natural regulatory compounds and/or partners and may develop non-specific interaction [213]. In plants, these problems can be circumvented using protoplasts, a useful tool to check the functionality of MIPs as well as for the study of their subcellular location by GFP-fusion [171,214]. Nevertheless, it has become clear that many signalling pathways regulate the expression of MIP genes trough complex transcriptional and posttranscriptional controls and that a general pattern of expression cannot be distinguished, especially in plants [155].

A rapid way to module membrane water permeability is by regulating the activity of the MIP constitutively expressed. Several works report the involvement of both  $H^+$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  in the MIP closure. For instance, in Arabidopsis, a decrease in pH causes the protonation of a conserved H (His)-197 residue of the loop D, closing the pore [36,215,216]. Such a pH influence on MIPs activity has been demonstrated in members of other kingdoms, for instance in mammals, but the location of the targeted H is generally not conserved since it can be placed at loops A or C [217]. Additionally, protein phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events participate in the gating of MIPs from several plant species (*i.e.* bean seed PvTIP3;1, spinach SoPIP2;1, soybean NOD26, and Arabidopsis and maize PIP1 and PIP2 isoforms). In spinach, SoPIP2;1 closes to reduce water loss in response to drought stress. Indeed, molecular dynamics simulations indicate that the dephosphorylation of two S residues (the loop B S-115 and the C-terminal S-274) modifies the interaction between several amino acid residues and induces a modification of the loop D conformation creating a hydrophobic barrier blocking the pore. In normal conditions, the two S residues are phosphorylated and the channel is open [36]. Phosphorylation events also occur to regulate AQP1-water permeability [218].

The inhibition of MIP transport activity by mercury (HgCl<sub>2</sub>) is a well-known tool used to study the function of the protein. It is based on its binding to SH-groups of C residues, and most particularly a guite conserved C at the vicinity of the first NPA repeat. This triggers a conformational change and therefore the decrease of water flow through the membrane, reversed by a  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol treatment [219,220]. Other heavy metals, such as silver nitrate or gold, are also able to block MIPs function. These compounds also interact with protein sulfhydryl groups [221]. However, this property is not a general feature of all aquaglyceroporin channels since many of them do not have the C residue and thus are insensitive to HgCl<sub>2</sub> (ex: AqpZ, [222]). Furthermore, a direct role in MIP gating of abscisic acid (ABA), an important phytohormone involved in the response to environmental stresses such as drought and salinity, has been speculated although no consistent evidence is brought so far. By binding to the transport protein or by modifying the heterogeneity of the surrounding lipid bilayers, ABA might stabilise an open conformational state of the channel [219,223].

Another rapid way to modulate the membrane water permeability is by adjusting the number of MIP in the membrane. In normal physiological conditions the targeting of the MIP is dependent on its structure and more precisely on the presence/absence of specific sequences that allow their retention in intracellular organelles or their trafficking to the plasma membrane (e.g. SIPs, AQP11, Aqy1). However, phenomena of re-location in response to hormonal stimuli or environmental stresses have been described in mammals, allowing the fast mobilization or removal of these proteins in order to control the flux of water at the membrane. AQP2 regulation by vasopressin at the kidney level is a well know example, extensively described. Vasopressin is an antidiureic hormone released from the brain in response to the dehydration of the body. In the kidneys, the fixation of the hormone on V2-receptors at the basolateral membranes of the conducting duct principal cells, triggers a signal cascade (cAMP synthesis, protein kinase A activation) that results in the exocytose of AQP2-membrane containing vesicles and their incorporation at the apical membrane. The mechanism involves the phosphorylation of S-256 residues of the protein and seems relatively widespread for other AQPs (for instance the translocation to the plasma membrane, however not associated by hormonal stimuli, requires the phosphorylation of a S (Ser) residue [224]. The phosphorylation step of AQP2 is important for the translocation but does not significantly affect the activity of the protein. Ca<sup>2+</sup> has also been involved in the translocation of AQP2 to the plasma membrane. Vasopressin is also able to regulate the number of AQPs at the membrane and then finely and quickly tunes the re-absorption of water by the conducting duct epithelium. This involves endocytosis and degradation of the protein through both lysosomal and proteosomal pathways. However, after stimulation, AOP2 is refractory to endocytosis whereas the vasopressin receptor is recycled by re-internalisation [123,225-227]. The phosphorylation status of other C-terminus S residues (S-261 and S-264) may affect both protein subcellular location and abundance in response to vasopressin [228,229]. Recently, the role of a heat shock protein in the trafficking of AOP2 has been demonstrated [230]. AOP5 is also relocalized to the plasma membrane of secretory cells of salivary glands in response to neurotransmitter stimulation. This mechanism, involving lipid rafts as well, results in the control of fluid secretion [109]. In hepatocytes, AQP8 is mainly localized in intracellular vesicles and its translocation to plasma membrane is induced by cAMP and facilitates osmotic water movement during canalicular bile secretion. Thus, defective expression of AQP8 may be associated with secretory dysfunction of hepatocytes caused by extrahepatic cholestasis [231].

In plants, MIP activity is also regulated by salt and osmotic stresses, acting on the phosphorylation status and thus the aperture of the channel, altering translation and/or degradation of the protein; in addition, some mechanisms of re-location in response to salt treatment have been reported for some TIP and PIPs isoforms. Indeed, these proteins, initially present in the tonoplast, were re-located into intravacuolar invaginations or other vesicular membranes after salt or mannitol-induced stress in Arabidopsis and Mesembryanthemum crystallinum, respectively [155, 232,233]. In Arabidopsis the phosphorylation of the S-283 residue is necessary for the subcellular trafficking of the AtPIP2;1 protein in response to stress [234]. Also, it has been shown that AtPIP1 proteins may be present in plasma membrane invaginations called plasmalemmasomes, even if under no stress conditions [235]. In M. crystallinum, the redistribution of McTIP1;2 correlates with its glycosylation and is abolished by tunicamycin, an inhibitor of N-glycosidic linkages formation. McTIP1;2 re-location is also disturbed by brefeldin A, which triggers disassembly of the Golgi and disruption of vesicular trafficking, and by wortmannin and cytochalasin D, which inhibit endocytosis and the disassemble of the actin cytoskeleton, respectively [232,233]. This could be a mechanism for fast intracellular water fluxes control [232,233,236]. Interestingly, in Arabidopsis roots, the signalling molecule H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> induced a decrease in hydraulic conductivity through the internalisation of PIPs proteins [237].

Although controversial, AQP1 has been suggested to function as a non-selective cation channel [144]. The passage of cations would occur through the central axis of the AQP1 tetramer. This specific function may be controlled by gating mechanisms involving the action of PKA or cGMP [143,238]. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that AQP6 functions not as a water channel but as an anion-selective channel, suggesting that subtle differences in the sequence of the protein may lead to major differences in biophysical function. The amino acid residue N-60 was identified for anion permeability of AQP6 and its substitution for G(Gly)-60 switches the function of AQP6 from that of an anion channel to that of a water-selective channel [239]. However, it has been suggested that, rather than being ion channels themselves, some AQPs could participate in protein complexes together with functional ion channels. Indeed, ability of some MIPs to interact with each other (hetero-oligomerisation, e.g. ZmPIP1s and ZmPIP2s, NtPIP1;1 and NtPIP2;1 in plants), together with the closely related expression of AQP4 and Kir4.1 in specific cells of the brain, strengthen this idea [140,170–172]. Moreover, a PDZ domain is found in the C-terminal extremity of AQP1. This sequence has been described as an interaction site with membrane proteins involved in ionic regulation [240,241], opening new insights regarding the function of MIPs and the complexity of their regulation at the protein level.

The control of gene expression is a longer-term way for the cell to answer to a stimulus by adjusting the amount of available protein in the membrane. Transcriptional regulation is rather an adaptation mechanism because the gene has to be transcribed, the subsequent RNA translated and the protein matured and correctly targeted. In mammals, AOP2 transcription is controlled by both vasopressindependent and independent mechanisms. After vasopressin V2receptor stimulation, AOP2 gene transcription is enhanced. Thus, vasopressin acts both at transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels and causes somehow contradictory answers that control the level of active proteins at the plasma membrane [226]. Other hormones are also able to control the transcription of mammalian AQPs: AQP1 and AQP9 are regulated by oestrogens [242], and an increase in AQP2 expression has been observed in early pregnancy (for a review see [243]). Pregnancy has been shown to increase AQP2 mRNA and protein expression in the renal collecting ducts of rats, resulting in expansion of extracellular fluid volume and water retention that occurs during normal pregnancy [244].

In plants, MIP gene expression is regulated developmentally in a cell-specific manner, via hormones, and by environmental conditions, such as water stress, nematodes infection, low temperature, and salinity. However, a general expression pattern of MIP genes cannot be distinguished, the different isoforms being either up- or down-regulated depending on the stimulus and/or the organ studied [155,245]. The absence of a unique expression pattern represents an important tuning mechanism by which the plant is able to adapt to unfavourable conditions. For instance, in response to water deprivation, most of AtPIPs in Arabidopsis leaves are transcriptionally down-regulated, however the expression of AtPIP1;4 and AtPIP2;5 is induced, and mRNA levels of AtPIP2;6 remain constant [173]. As in the case of drought stress, salt exposure also results in significant and differential regulation of MIP gene expression: in salt-tolerant rice lines some AQP genes have been shown to be up-regulated following a 150 mM NaCl treatment [246]. Conversely, in Arabidopsis roots, all the PIPs and TIPs - highly expressed in non-treated plants - are transcriptionally downregulated within few hours after the addition of 100 mM NaCl [233]. This difference in transcriptional regulation suggests that each MIP isoform has a distinct role on stress response. Indeed, it has been suggested that, as water content decreases in tissues submitted to salt treatment, MIP genes expression is down-regulated to reduce the water loss within 2-5 h after stress exposure. Then, stressed-cells would recover by up-regulating their MIP stress-responsive isoforms, allowing water influx and promoting ions uptake, and compatible osmolytes synthesis to lower the cellular water potential [247]. As ABA is involved in water stress-related answers, it is not surprising that ABA regulates the transcription of many AQPs isoforms [173]. For instance, PIP1 genes is transcriptionally controlled by ABA and blue light in guard cell [248,249] and Lis1 (OsNIP2;1) transcription is down-regulated by dehydration stress and ABA [250]. Some other phytohormones such as gibberellins and possibly brassinosteroids have been shown to control aquaporin expression [184], as well as the circadian rhythm (ex: OsPIP2;4, [154]).

#### 8. Conclusions and perspectives

AQP1 discovery by Peter Agre brought first the answer to a brainteasing problem - how can water effectively cross biological membranes? - and generated a large interest from the scientific community. Over the past twenty years, after the discovery of the first AQP, many members of the MIP family from all living kingdoms have been cloned and functionally studied. Data collected have shown that these proteins exhibit a striking structural diversity, specificity and regulation mechanisms. In mammals, the involvement of AQP1 in Alzheimer's diseases is being investigated while the role of AQP2 in diabetes insipidus disorder is well-known and opens promising clinical perspectives. On the other hand, AQPO was showed to be involved in congenital cataracts in humans and mouse [251,252], AQP4 in cerebral water transport and oedema [253,254], AQP5 in Sjögren's syndrome [110,111,112] and AQP7 in obesity [255-257]. Indeed several studies are now staring at AQPs as potential targets for drugs elaboration or genetic engineering strategies [8,123,258,259] to cure and/or prevent human diseases. Ongoing work on the study of the expression of AOP genes and regulation will elucidate in more detail the involvement of AOPs in pathophysiological processes. In plants, the identification of water channels able to transport silicon, a compound involved in abiotic and biotic stress responses, highlights the potential involvement of these proteins in plant growth and survival. Because it has been observed that AQPs are not specific to water transport, since new substrates and new roles, albeit sometime speculative, are assigned to these proteins, the ongoing intense investigation will indeed provide, in a short time, astonishing surprises. For instance, the possible involvement of an aquaporinlike channel on glucose transport in plant cells has been suggested [260], implying a direct role of AQPs in organic nutrition. In a near future, the numerous ongoing studies will certainly reveal a multifunctional role of these proteins in humans and plants.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (research project ref. POCI/AGR/56378/2004; to A. Agasse, grant ref. SFRH/PBD/34897/2007), and by grants from the Belgian National Fund for Scientific Research (FNRS), the Interuniversity Attraction Poles Programme–Belgian Science Policy, and the "Communauté française de Belgique–Actions de Recherches Concertées". The authors would like to thank the work of the Scientific Editing Programme of Universidade do Minho for revising the English text of the manuscript.

#### References

- P. Agre, W. Homer, Smith award lecture. Aquaporin water channels in kidney, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11 (2000) 764–777.
- [2] M.C. Koag, R.D. Fenton, S. Wilkens, T.J. Close, The binding of maize DHN1 to lipid vesicles. Gain of structure and lipid specificity, Plant. Physiol. 131 (2003) 309–316.
- [3] J. Janin, Wet and dry interfaces: the role of solvent in protein–protein and protein–DNA recognition, Structure 7 (1999) R277–279.
- [4] G. Chillemi, T. Castrignano, A. Desideri, Structure and hydration of the DNAhuman topoisomerase I covalent complex, Biophys. J. 81 (2001) 490–500.
- [5] L. Taiz, E. Zeiger, Plant Physiology, Sinauer, 2006.[6] C.V. Paganelli, A.K. Solomon, The rate exchange of tritiated water across the second s
- human red cell membrane, J. Gen. Physiol. 41 (1957) 259–277. [7] V.W. Sidel, A.K. Solomon, Entrance of water into human red cells under an
- osmotic pressure gradient, J. Gen. Physiol. 41 (1957) 243–257. [8] P. Agre, D. Kozono, Aquaporin water channels: molecular mechanisms for human
- diseases, FEBS. Lett. 555 (2003) 72–78. [9] G. Whittembury, Ion and water transport in the proximal tubules of the kidney of
- Necturus maculosus, J. Gen. Physiol. 43 (1960) 43–56.
  [10] P. Carpi-Medina, G. Whittembury, Comparison of transcellular and transepithelial water osmotic permeabilities (Pos) in the isolated proximal straight tubule
- (PST) of the rabbit kidney, Pflugers. Arch. 412 (1988) 66–74.
- [11] W.F.P. Pfeffer, Osmotische Untersuchungen, Leipzig, 1877.
- [12] A. Finkelstein, Water movement through lipid bilayers, pores, and plasma membranes: theory and reality, in: N.Y. Wiley-Interscience (Ed.), Distinguished Lecture Series of the Society of General Physiologists, 1987, pp. 158–159.

- [13] P. Agre, A.M. Saboori, A. Asimos, B.L. Smith, Purification and partial characterization of the Mr 30,000 integral membrane protein associated with the erythocyte Rh (D) antigen, IBC 262 (1987) 17497–17503.
- [14] B.M. Denker, B.L. Smith, F.P. Kuhajda, P. Agre, Identification, purification, and partial characterization of a novel Mr 28,000 integral membrane protein from erythrocytes and renal tubules, J. Biol. Chem. 263 (1988) 15634–15642.
- [15] G.M. Preston, T.P. Carroll, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Appearance of water channels in *Xenopus* oocytes expressing red cell CHIP28 protein, Science 256 (1992) 385–387.
- [16] P. Agre, Molecular physiology of water transport: aquaporin nomenclature workshop, Mammalian. aquaporins, Biol. Cell. 89 (1997) 255–257.
- [17] G.M. Preston, P. Agre, Isolation of the cDNA for erythrocyte integral membrane protein of 28 kilodaltons: member of an ancient channel family, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88 (1991) 11110–11114.
- [18] J.B. Heymann, A. Engel, Aquaporins: phylogeny, structure, and physiology of water channels, News. Physiol. Sci. 14 (1999) 187–193.
- [19] K. El Karkouri, H. Gueuné, C. Delamarche, MIPDB: a relational database dedicated to MIP family proteins, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 535–543.
- [20] M. Borgnia, S. Nielsen, A. Engel, P. Agre, Cellular and molecular biology of the aquaporin water channels, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 68 (1999) 425–458.
- [21] J.F. Hubert, L. Duchesne, C. Delamarche, A. Vaysse, H. Gueune, C. Raguenes-Nicol, Pore selectivity analysis of an aquaglyceroporin by stopped-flow spectrophotometry on bacterial cell suspensions, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 675–686.
- [22] N. Pettersson, C. Filipsson, E. Becit, L. Brive, S. Hohmann, Aquaporins in yeasts and filamentous fungi, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 487–500.
- [23] K. Luyten, J. Albertyn, W.F. Skibbe, B.A. Prior, J. Ramos, J.M. Thevelein, S. Hohmann, Fps1, a yeast member of the MIP family of channel proteins, is a facilitator for glycerol uptake and efflux and is inactive under osmotic stress, EMBO J. 14 (1995) 1360–1371.
- [24] C.M. Krane, D.L. Goldstein, Comparative functional analysis ofaquaporins/ glyceroporins in mammals and anurans, Mamm. Genome. 18 (2007) 452–462.
- [25] G.M. Pao, L.F. Wu, K.D. Johnson, H. Hofte, M.J. Chrispeels, G. Sweet, N.N. Sandal, M.H. Saier Jr., Evolution of the MIP family of integral membrane transport proteins, Mol. Microbiol. 5 (1991) 33–37.
- [26] R. Zardoya, Phylogeny and evolution of the major intrinsic protein family, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 397-414.
- [27] J.S. Jung, G.M. Preston, B.L. Smith, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Molecular structure of the water channel through aquaporin CHIP. The hourglass model, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 14648–14654.
- [28] J.H. Park, M.H. Saier Jr., Phylogenetic characterization of the MIP family of transmembrane channel proteins, J. Membr. Biol. 153 (1996) 171–180.
- [29] J.C. Mathai, P. Agre, Hourglass pore-forming domains restrict aquaporin-1 tetramer assembly, Biochemistry 38 (1999) 923–928.
- [30] R. Apweiler, A. Bairoch, C.H. Wu, Protein sequence databases, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 8 (2004) 76–80.
- [31] H. Sui, B.G. Han, J.K. Lee, P. Walian, B.K. Jap, Structural basis of water-specific transport through the AQP1 water channel, Nature 414 (2001) 872–878.
- [32] D.F. Savage, P.F. Egea, Y. Robles-Colmenares, J.D. O'Connell III, R.M. Stroud, Architecture and selectivity in aquaporins: 2.5 a X-ray structure of aquaporin Z, PLoS. Biol. 1 (2003) E72.
- [33] T. Gonen, P. Sliz, J. Kistler, Y. Cheng, T. Walz, Aquaporin-0 membrane junctions reveal the structure of a closed water pore, Nature 429 (2004) 193–197.
- [34] D. Fu, A. Libson, L.J. Miercke, C. Weitzman, P. Nollert, J. Krucinski, R.M. Stroud, Structure of a glycerol-conducting channel and the basis for its selectivity, Science 290 (2000) 481–486.
- [35] J.K. Lee, D. Kozono, J. Remis, Y. Kitagawa, P. Agre, R.M. Stroud, Structural basis for conductance by the archaeal aquaporin AqpM at 1.68 A, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 18932–18937.
- [36] S. Törnroth-Horsefield, Y. Wang, K. Hedfalk, U. Johanson, M. Karlsson, E. Tajkhorshid, R. Neutze, P. Kjellbom, Structural mechanism of plant aquaporin gating, Nature 439 (2006) 688–694.
- [37] V. Lagrée, A. Froger, S. Deschamps, J.F. Hubert, C. Delamarche, G. Bonnec, D. Thomas, J. Gouranton, I. Pellerin, Switch from an aquaporin to a glycerol channel by two amino acids substitution, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 6817–6819.
- [38] A. Froger, J.P. Rolland, P. Bron, V. Lagree, F. Le Caherec, S. Deschamps, J.F. Hubert, I. Pellerin, D. Thomas, C. Delamarche, Functional characterization of a microbial aquaglyceroporin, Microbiology 147 (2001) 1129–1135.
- [39] Y. Fujiyoshi, K. Mitsuoka, B.L. de Groot, A. Philippsen, H. Grubmuller, P. Agre, A. Engel, Structure and function of water channels, Curr. Opin. Struc. Biol. 12 (2002) 509–515.
- [40] J.S. Hub, B.L. de Groot, Mechanism of selectivity in aquaporins and aquaglyceroporins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 1198–1203.
- [41] E. Beitz, B. Wu, L.M. Holm, J.E. Schultz, T. Zeuthen, Point mutations in the aromatic/arginine region in aquaporin 1 allow passage of urea, glycerol, ammonia, and protons, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 269–274.
- [42] I.S. Wallace, D.M. Roberts, Homology modeling of representative subfamilies of Arabidopsis major intrinsic proteins. Classification based on the aromatic/ arginine selectivity filter, Plant. Physiol. 135 (2004) 1059–1068.
- [43] K. Murata, K. Mitsuoka, T. Hirai, T. Walz, P. Agre, J.B. Heymann, A. Engel, Y. Fujiyoshi, Structural determinants of water permeation through aquaporin-1, Nature 407 (2000) 599–605.
- [44] E. Tajkhorshid, P. Nollert, M.O. Jensen, L.J. Miercke, J. O'Connell, R.M. Stroud, K. Schulten, Control of the selectivity of the aquaporin water channel family by global orientational tuning, Science 296 (2002) 525–530.
   [45] B.L. de Groot, T. Frigato, V. Helms, H. Grubmüller, The mechanism of proton
- [45] B.L. de Groot, T. Frigato, V. Helms, H. Grubmüller, The mechanism of proton exclusion in the aquaporin-1 water channel, J. Mol. Biol. 333 (2003) 279–293.

- [46] D. Fu, M. Lu, The structural basis of water permeation and proton exclusion in aquaporins, Mol. Membr. Biol. 24 (2007) 366–374.
- [47] B.L de Groot, H. Grubmuller, Water permeation across biological membranes: mechanism and dynamics of aquaporin-1 and GlpF, Science 294 (2001) 2353–2357.
- [48] A. Bansal, R. Sankararamakrishnan, Homology modeling of major intrinsic proteins in rice, maize and *Arabidopsis*: comparative analysis of transmembrane helix association and aromatic/arginine selectivity filters, BMC. Struct. Biol. 7 (2007) 27.
- [49] D. Thomas, P. Bron, G. Ranchy, L. Duchesne, A. Cavalier, J.P. Rolland, C. Raguenes-Nicol, J.F. Hubert, W. Haase, C. Delamarche, Aquaglyceroporins, one channel for two molecules, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1555 (2002) 181–186.
- [50] R.M. Bill, K. Hedfalk, S. Karlgren, J.G. Mullins, J. Rydstrom, S. Hohmann, Analysis of the pore of the unusual major intrinsic protein channel, yeast Fps1p, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 36543–36549.
- [51] F. Chaumont, M. Moshelion, M.J. Daniels, Regulation of plant aquaporin activity, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 749–764.
- [52] A.J. Yool, Functional domains of aquaporin-1: keys to physiology, and targets for drug discovery, Curr. Pharm. Des. 13 (2007) 3212–3221.
- [53] E. Soupene, N. King, H. Lee, S. Kustu, Aquaporin Z of *Escherichia coli*: reassessment of its regulation and physiological role, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 4304–4307.
- [54] K.B. Heller, E.C. Lin, T.H. Wilson, Substrate specificity and transport properties of the glycerol facilitator of *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 144 (1980) 274–278.
- [55] C. Maurel, J. Reizer, J.I. Schroeder, M.J. Chrispeels, M.H. Saier Jr., Functional characterization of the *Escherichia coli* glycerol facilitator, GlpF, in *Xenopus* oocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 11869–11872.
- [56] M.J. Borgnia, P. Agre, Reconstitution and functional comparison of purified GlpF and AqpZ, the glycerol and water channels from *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 2888–2893.
- [57] O.I. Sanders, C. Rensing, M. Kuroda, B. Mitra, B.P. Rosen, Antimonite is accumulated by the glycerol facilitator GlpF in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 179 (1997) 3365–3367.
- [58] R. Wysocki, C.C. Chery, D. Wawrzycka, M. Van Hulle, R. Cornelis, J.M. Thevelein, M.J. Tamás, The glycerol channel Fps1p mediates the uptake of arsenite and antimonite in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Mol. Microbiol. 40 (2001) 1391–1401.
- [59] G. Calamita, W.R. Bishai, G.M. Preston, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Molecular cloning and characterization of AqpZ, a water channel from *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 29063–29066.
- [60] G. Calamita, B. Kempf, M. Bonhivers, W.R. Bishai, E. Bremer, P. Agre, Regulation of the *Escherichia coli* water channel gene aqpZ, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95 (1998) 3627–3631.
- [61] W.A. Wood, Fermentation of carbohydrates and related compounds, The Bacteria: a Treatise on Structure and Function, Academic Press, New York, 1961, pp. 59–149.
- [62] X. Ding, Y. Kitagawa, Rapid amplification of a water channel-like gene and its flanking sequences from the *Methanothermobacter marburgensis* genome using a single primer PCR strategy, J. Biosci. Bioeng. 92 (2001) 488–491.
- [63] D. Kozono, X. Ding, I. Iwasaki, X. Meng, Y. Kamagata, P. Agre, Y. Kitagawa, Functional expression and characterization of an archaeal aquaporin. AqpM from Methanothermobacter marburgensis, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 10649–10656.
- [64] B. Andre, An overview of membrane transport proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Yeast 11 (1995) 1575–1611.
- [65] S. Hohmann, Osmotic adaptation in yeast-control of the yeast osmolyte system, Int. Rev. Cytol. 215 (2002) 149–187.
- [66] V. Laizé, R. Gobin, G. Rousselet, C. Badier, S. Hohmann, P. Ripoche, F. Tacnet, Molecular and functional study of AQY1 from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: role of the C-terminal domain, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 257 (1999) 139–144.
- [67] J.M. Carbrey, M. Bonhivers, J.D. Boeke, P. Agre, Aquaporins in Saccharomyces: characterization of a second functional water channel protein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 1000–1005.
- [68] F. Sidoux-Walter, N. Pettersson, S. Hohmann, The Saccharomyces cerevisiae aquaporin Aqy1 is involved in sporulation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 17422–17427.
- [69] A. Tanghe, P. Van Dijck, F. Dumortier, A. Teunissen, S. Hohmann, J.M. Thevelein, Aquaporin expression correlates with freeze tolerance in baker's yeast, and overexpression improves freeze tolerance in industrial strains, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68 (2002) 5981–5989.
- [70] G. Soveral, A. Veiga, M.C. Loureiro-Dias, A. Tanghe, P. Van Dijck, T.F. Moura, Water channels are important for osmotic adjustments of yeast cells at low temperature, Microbiology 152 (2006) 1515–1521.
- [71] S. Hohmann, Osmotic stress signaling and osmoadaptation in yeasts, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66 (2002) 300–372.
- [72] M.J. Tamás, K. Luyten, F.C. Sutherland, A. Hernandez, J. Albertyn, H. Valadi, H. Li, B.A. Prior, S.G. Kilian, J. Ramos, L. Gustafsson, J.M. Thevelein, S. Hohmann, Fps1p controls the accumulation and release of the compatible solute glycerol in yeast osmoregulation, Mol. Microbiol. 31 (1999) 1087–1104.
- [73] B. Holst, C. Lunde, F. Lages, R. Oliveira, C. Lucas, M.C. Kielland-Brandt, GUP1 and its close homologue GUP2, encoding multimembrane-spanning proteins involved in active glycerol uptake in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Mol. Microbiol. 37 (2000) 108–124.
- [74] R. Oliveira, C. Lucas, Expression studies of GUP1 and GUP2, genes involved in glycerol active transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, using semi-quantitative RT-PCR, Curr. Genet. 46 (2004) 140–146.
   [75] E.M. Campbell, A. Ball, S. Hoppler, A.S. Bowman, Invertebrate aquaporins: a
- [75] E.M. Campbell, A. Ball, S. Hoppler, A.S. Bowman, Invertebrate aquaporins: a review, J. Comp. Physiol. 178 (2008) 935–955.

- [76] A.K. Mah, K.R. Armstrong, D.S. Chew, J.S. Chu, D.K. Tu, R.C. Johnsen, N. Chen, H.M. Chamberlin, D.L. Baillie, Transcriptional regulation of AQP-8, a *Caenorhabditis elegans* aquaporin exclusively expressed in the excretory system, by the POU homeobox transcription factor CEH-6, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 28074–28086.
- [77] C.G. Huang, T. Lamitina, P. Agre, K. Strange, Functional analysis of the aquaporin gene family in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 292 (2007) C1867–C1873.
- [78] M. Suzuki, T. Hasegawa, Y. Ogushi, S. Tanaka, Amphibian aquaporins and adaptation to terrestrial environments: a review, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 148 (2007) 72–81.
- [79] L.V. Virkki, C. Franke, P. Somieski, W.F. Boron, Cloning and functional characterization of a novel aquaporin from *Xenopus laevis* oocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 40610–40616.
- [80] M. Kubota, T. Hasegawa, T. Nakakura, H. Tanii, M. Suzuki, S. Tanaka, Molecular and cellular characterization of a new aquaporin, AQP-x5, specifically expressed in the small granular glands of *Xenopus*, skin, J. Exp. Biol. 209 (2006) 3199–3208.
- [81] S. Nielsen, B.L. Smith, E.I. Christensen, P. Agre, Distribution of the aquaporin CHIP in secretory and resorptive epithelia and capillary endothelia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 7275–7279.
- [82] M.B. Gorin, S.B. Yancey, J. Cline, J.P. Revel, J. Horwitz, The major intrinsic protein (MIP) of the bovine lens fiber membrane: characterization and structure based on cDNA cloning, Cell 39 (1984) 49–59.
- [83] A.S. Verkman, A.K. Mitra, Structure and function of aquaporin water channels, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 278 (2000) F13–28.
- [84] M. Yasui, A. Hazama, T.H. Kwon, S. Nielsen, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, Rapid gating and anion permeability of an intracellular aquaporin, Nature 402 (1999) 184–187.
- [85] M. Yasui, T.H. Kwon, M.A. Knepper, S. Nielsen, P. Agre, Aquaporin-6: an intracellular vesicle water channel protein in renal epithelia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 5808–5813.
- [86] S.M. Saparov, K. Liu, P. Agre, P. Pohl, Fast and selective ammonia transport by aquaporin-8, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 5296–5301.
- [87] A. Rojek, J. Praetorius, J. Frokiaer, S. Nielsen, R.A. Fenton, A current view of the mammalian aquaglyceroporins, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 70 (2008) 301–327.
- [88] S. Hatakeyama, Y. Yoshida, T. Tani, Y. Koyama, K. Nihei, K. Ohshiro, J.I. Kamiie, E. Yaoita, T. Suda, K. Hatakeyama, T. Yamamoto, Cloning of a new aquaporin (AQP10) abundantly expressed in duodenum and jejunum, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 287 (2001) 814–819.
- [89] H. Tsukaguchi, S. Weremowicz, C.C. Morton, M.A. Hediger, Functional and molecular characterization of the human neutral solute channel aquaporin-9, Am. J. Physiol. 277 (1999) F685–F696.
- [90] Z. Liu, J. Shen, J.M. Carbrey, R. Mukhopadhyay, P. Agre, B.P. Rosen, Arsenite transport by mammalian aquaglyceroporins AQP7 and AQP9, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 6053–6058.
- [91] T. Itoh, T. Rai, M. Kuwahara, S.B. Ko, S. Uchida, S. Sasaki, K. Ishibashi, Identification of a novel aquaporin, AQP12, expressed in pancreatic acinar cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 330 (2005) 832–838.
- [92] Y. Morishita, T. Matsuzaki, M. Hara-chikuma, A. Andoo, M. Shimono, A. Matsuki, K. Kobayashi, M. Ikeda, T. Yamamoto, A. Verkman, E. Kusano, S. Ookawara, K. Takata, S. Sasaki, K. Ishibashi, Disruption of aquaporin-11 produces polycystic kidneys following vacuolization of the proximal tubule, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 7770–7779.
- [93] K. Yakata, Y. Hiroaki, K. Ishibashi, E. Sohara, S. Sasaki, K. Mitsuoka, Y. Fujiyoshi, Aquaporin-11 containing a divergent NPA motif has normal water channel activity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 688–693.
- [94] K. Ishibashi, Aquaporin subfamily with unusual NPA boxes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 989–993.
- [95] K. Nozaki, D. Ishii, K. Ishibashi, Intracellular aquaporins: clues for intracellular water transport? Pflugers Arch. 456 (2008) 701-707.
- [96] E. Beitz, K. Liu, M. Ikeda, W.B. Guggino, P. Agre, M. Yasui, Determinants of AQP6 trafficking to intracellular sites versus the plasma membrane in transfected mammalian cells, Biol. Cell. 98 (2006) 101–109.
- [97] F. Ishikawa, S. Suga, T. Uemura, M.H. Sato, M. Maeshima, Novel type aquaporin SIPs are mainly localized to the ER membrane and show cell-specific expression in Arabidopsis thaliana, FEBS Lett. 579 (2005) 5814–5820.
- [98] A.S. Verkman, Physiological importance of aquaporin water channels, Ann. Med. 34 (2002) 192–200.
- [99] C. Bondy, E. Chin, B.L. Smith, G.M. Preston, P. Agre, Developmental gene expression and tissue distribution of the CHIP28 water-channel protein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 4500–4504.
- [100] T. Ma, B. Yang, A. Gillespie, E.J. Carlson, C.J. Epstein, A.S. Verkman, Severely Impaired Urinary Concentrating Ability in Transgenic Mice Lacking Aquaporin-1 Water Channels, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 4296–4299.
- [101] L.S. King, M. Choi, P.C. Fernandez, J. Cartron, P. Agre, Defective urinary concentrating ability due to a complete deficiency of aquaporin-1, N. Engl. J. Med. 345 (2001) 175–179.
- [102] M.J. Tait, S. Saadoun, B.A. Bell, M.C. Papadopoulos, Water movements in the brain: role of aquaporins, Trends Neurosci. 31 (2008) 37–43.
- [103] A.S. Verkman, More than just water channels: unexpected cellular roles of aquaporins, J. Cell Sci. 118 (2005) 3225–3232.
- [104] P.M. Deen, M.A. Verdijk, N.V. Knoers, B. Wieringa, L.A. Monnens, C.H. van Os, B.A. van Oost, Requirement of human renal water channel aquaporin-2 for vasopressin-dependent concentration of urine, Science 264 (1994) 92–95.
- [105] N. Roudier, P. Ripoche, P. Gane, P.Y. Le Pennec, G. Daniels, J. Cartron, P. Bailly, AQP3 deficiency in humans and the molecular basis of a novel blood group system, GIL, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 45854–45859.

- [106] A. Rojek, J. Praetorius, J. Frøkiaer, S. Nielsen, R.A. Fenton, A Current View of the Mammalian Aquaglyceroporins, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 70 (2008) 301–327.
- [107] A.S. Verkman, M.A. Matthay, Y. Song, Aquaporin water channels and lung physiology, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 278 (2000) 867–879.
- [108] G.T. Manley, M. Fujimura, T. MA, N. Noshita, F. Filiz, A.W. Bollen, P. Chan, A.S. Verkman, Aquaporin-4 deletion in mice reduces brain edema after acute water intoxication and ischemic stroke, Nature. Medicin. 6 (2000) 159–163.
- [109] Y. Ishikawa, Z. Yuan, N. Inoue, M.T. Skowronski, Y. Nakae, M. Shono, G. Cho, M. Yasui, P. Agre, S. Nielsen, Identification of AQP5 in lipid rafts and its translocation to apical membranes by activation of M3mAChRs in interlobular ducts of rat parotid gland, Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 289 (2005) 1303–1311.
- [110] S. Steinfeld, E. Cogan, L. S King, P. Agre, R. Kiss, C. Delporte, Abnormal distribution of aquaporin-5 water channel protein in salivary glands from Sjögren's syndrome patients, Laboratory Invest., J. Technical Methods Pathol. 81 (2001) 143–148.
- [111] K. Tsubota, S. Hirai, L. King, P. Agre, N. Ishida, Defective cellular trafficking of lacrimal gland aquaporin-5 in Sjögren's syndrome, Lancet 357 (2001) 688–689.
- [112] C. Delporte De, Aquaporins in secretory glands and their role in Sjögren's syndrome, Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 190 (2009) 185–201.
- [113] M.T. Skowronski, J. Lebeck, A. Rojek, J. Praetorius, E. Füchtbauer, J. Frøkiær, S. Nielsen, AQP7 is localized in capillaries of adipose tissue, cardiac and striated muscle: implications in glycerol metabolism, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 292 (2007) 956–965.
- [114] A. Rodríguez, V. Catalán, J. Gomez-Ambrosi, G. Frühbeck, Role of aquaporin-7 in the pathophysiological control of fat accumulation in mice, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 4771–4776.
- [115] F. García, A. Kierbel, M.C. Larocca, S.A. Gradilone, P. Splinter, N.F. LaRusso, R.A. Marinelli, The water channel aquaporin-8 is mainly intracellular in rat hepatocytes, and its plasma membrane insertion is stimulated by cyclic AMP, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 12147–12152.
- [116] M. Amiry-Moghaddam, O.P. Ottersen, The molecular basis of water transport in the brain, Nat. Rev. 4 (2003) 991–1001.
- [117] A.M. Rojek, M.T. Skowronski, E. Füchtbauer, A.C. Füchtbauer, R.A. Fenton, P. Agre, J. Frøkiær, S. Nielsen, Defective glycerol metabolism in aquaporin 9 (AQP9) knockout mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104 (2007) 3609–3614.
- [118] D.A. Gorelick, J. Praetorius, T. Tsunenari, S. Nielsen, Peter Agre, Aquaporin-11: a channel protein lacking apparent transport function expressed in brain, BMC. Biochem. 7 (2006) 1–14.
- [119] S. Saadoun, M.C. Papadopoulos, M. Hara-Chikuma, A.S. Verkman, Impairment of angiogenesis and cell migration by targeted aquaporin-1 gene disruption, Nature 434 (2005) 786–792.
- [120] M.C. Papadopoulos, S. Saadoun, A.S. Verkman, Aquaporins and cell migration, Pflugers. Arch. Eur. J. Physiol. 456 (2008) 693–700.
- [121] M.C. Papadopoulos, S. Saadoun, A.S. Verkman, Aquaporins and cell migration, Eur. J. Physiol. 456 (2008) 693–700.
- [122] A.S. Verkman, Mammalian aquaporins: diverse physiological roles and potential clinical significance, Expert. Rev. Mol. Med. 10 (2008) e13.
- [123] S. Nielsen, J. Frokiaer, D. Marples, T.H. Kwon, P. Agre, M.A. Knepper, Aquaporins in the kidney: from molecules to medicine, Physiol. Rev. 82 (2002) 205–244.
- [124] A.S. Verkman, Roles of aquaporins in kidney revealed by transgenic mice, Semin. Nephrol. 26 (2006) 200–208.
- [125] S. Nielsen, M.A. Knepper, Vasopressin activates collecting duct urea transporters and water channels by distinct physical processes, Am. J. Physiol. 265 (1993) F204–F213.
- [126] S. Nielsen, T. Pallone, B.L. Smith, E.I. Christensen, P. Agre, A.B. Maunsbach, Aquaporin-1 water channels in short and long loop descending thin limbs and in descending vasa recta in rat kidney, Am. J. Physiol. 268 (1995) F1023-1037.
- [127] J.B. Wade, A.J. Lee, J. Liu, C.A. Ecelbarger, C. Mitchell, A.D. Bradford, J. Terris, G.H. Kim, M.A. Knepper, UT-A2: a 55-kDa urea transporter in thin descending limb whose abundance is regulated by vasopressin, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 278 (2000) F52–F62.
- [128] X.Y. Zhai, R.A. Fenton, A. Andreasen, J.S. Thomsen, E.I. Christensen, Aquaporin-1 is not expressed in descending thin limbs of short-loop nephrons, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18 (2007) 2937–2944.
- [129] L.S. King, P. Agre, Man Is not a rodent: aquaporins in the airways, Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 24 (2001) 221–223.
- [130] K. Fushimi, S. Uchida, Y. Hara, Y. Hirata, F. Marumo, S. Sasaki, Cloning and expression of apical membrane water channel of rat kidney collecting tubule, Nature 361 (1993) 549–552.
- [131] S. Nielsen, S.R. DiGiovanni, E.I. Christensen, M.A. Knepper, H.W. Harris, Cellular and subcellular immunolocalization of vasopressin-regulated water channel in rat kidney, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 11663–11667.
- [132] S. Nielsen, C.L. Chou, D. Marples, E.I. Christensen, B.K. Kishore, M.A. Knepper, Vasopressin increases water permeability of kidney collecting duct by inducing translocation of aquaporin-CD water channels to plasma membrane, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 1013–1017.
- [133] M. Rehbein, M. Hillers, E. Mohr, R. Ivell, S. Morley, H. Schmale, D. Richter, The neurohypophyseal hormones vasopressin and oxytocin. Precursor structure, synthesis and regulation, Biol. Chem. Hoppe. Seyler. 367 (1986) 695–704.
- [134] S. Nielsen, P. Agre, The aquaporin family of water channels in kidney, Kidney Int. 48 (1995) 1057–1068.
- [135] J. Terris, C.A. Ecelbarger, S. Nielsen, M.A. Knepper, Long-term regulation of four renal aquaporins in rats, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) F414–422.
- [136] M. Garcia-Delgado, M.J. Peral, O. Garcia-Benitez, O. Carreras, A.A. Ilundain, Prolonged ethanol ingestion increases renal AQP2 and AQP3 expression in adult rats and in their offspring, J. Membr. Biol. 198 (2004) 89–94.

- [137] S. Nielsen, J. Terris, D. Andersen, C. Ecelbarger, J. Frokiaer, T. Jonassen, D. Marples, M.A. Knepper, J.S. Petersen, Congestive heart failure in rats is associated with increased expression and targeting of aquaporin-2 water channel in collecting duct, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 5450–5455.
- [138] P.M. Deen, M.A. Verdijk, N.V. Knoers, B. Wieringa, L.A. Monnens, C.H. van Os, B.A. van Oost, Requirement of human renal water channel aquaporin-2 for vasopressin-dependent concentration of urine, Science 264 (1994) 92–95.
   [139] J. Badaut, F. Lasbennes, P.J. Magistretti, L. Regli, Aquaporins in brain: distribution,
- [139] J. Badaut, F. Lasbennes, P.J. Magistretti, L. Regli, Aquaporins in brain: distribution, physiology, and pathophysiology, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22 (2002) 367–378.
- [140] A.J. Yool, Aquaporins: multiple roles in the central nervous system, Neuroscientist 13 (2007) 470–485.
- [141] K. Strange, Regulation of solute and water balance and cell volume in the central nervous system, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 3 (1992) 12–27.
- [142] S.M. Saparov, D. Kozono, U. Rothe, P. Agre, P. Pohl, Water and ion permeation of aquaporin-1 in planar lipid bilayers. Major differences in structural determinants and stoichiometry, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 31515–31520.
- [143] J. Yu, A.J. Yool, K. Schulten, E. Tajkhorshid, Mechanism of gating and ion conductivity of a possible tetrameric pore in aquaporin-1, Structure 14 (2006) 1411–1423.
- [144] S.P. Tsunoda, B. Wiesner, D. Lorenz, W. Rosenthal, P. Pohl, Aquaporin-1, nothing but a water channel, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 11364–11367.
- [145] A.N. Mhatre, R.E. Stern, J. Li, A.K. Lalwani, Aquaporin 4 expression in the mammalian inner ear and its role in hearing, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 297 (2002) 987–996.
- [146] M.C. Papadopoulos, S. Saadoun, D.K. Binder, G.T. Manley, S. Krishna, A.S. Verkman, Molecular mechanisms of brain tumor edema, Neuroscience 129 (2004) 1011–1020.
- [147] N.C. Connors, P. Kofuji, Potassium channel Kir4.1 macromolecular complex in retinal glial cells, Glia 53 (2006) 124–131.
- [148] C. Maurel, J. Reizer, J.I. Schroeder, M.J. Chrispeels, The vacuolar membrane protein gamma-TIP creates water specific channels in *Xenopus* oocytes, EMBO J. 12 (1993) 2241–2247.
- [149] C. MaureÍ, Plant aquaporins: novel functions and regulation properties, FEBS Lett. 581 (2007) 2227–2236.
- [150] H. Javot, V. Lauvergeat, V. Santoni, F. Martin-Laurent, J. Guclu, J. Vinh, J. Heyes, K.I. Franck, A.R. Schäffner, D. Bouchez, C. Maurel, Role of a single aquaporin isoform in root water uptake, Plant Cell 15 (2003) 509–522.
- [151] H. Javot, C. Maurel, The role of aquaporins in root water uptake, Ann. Bot. (Lond). 90 (2002) 301–313.
- [152] U. Johanson, M. Karlsson, I. Johansson, S. Gustavsson, S. Sjovall, L. Fraysse, A.R. Weig, P. Kjellbom, The complete set of genes encoding major intrinsic proteins in *Arabidopsis* provides a framework for a new nomenclature for major intrinsic proteins in plants, Plant Physiol. 126 (2001) 1358–1369.
- [153] F. Chaumont, F. Barrieu, E. Wojcik, M.J. Chrispeels, R. Jung, Aquaporins constitute a large and highly divergent protein family in maize, Plant Physiol. 125 (2001) 1206–1215.
- [154] J. Sakurai, F. Ishikawa, T. Yamaguchi, M. Uemura, M. Maeshima, Identification of 33 rice aquaporin genes and analysis of their expression and function, Plant Cell Physiol. 46 (2005) 1568–1577.
- [155] C. Hachez, E. Zelazny, F. Chaumont, Modulating the expression of aquaporin genes in planta: a key to understand their physiological functions? Biochim. Biophys. Acta (2006) (1758) 1142–1156.
- [156] V. Santoni, P. Gerbeau, H. Javot, C. Maurel, The high diversity of aquaporins reveals novel facets of plant membrane functions, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 3 (2000) 476–481.
- [157] J. Takano, M. Wada, U. Ludewig, G. Schaaf, N. von Wiren, T. Fujiwara, The Arabidopsis major intrinsic protein NIP5;1 is essential for efficient boron uptake and plant development under boron limitation, Plant Cell 18 (2006) 1498–1509.
- [158] M. Maeshima, F. Ishikawa, ER membrane aquaporins in plants, Pflugers. Arch. 456 (2008) 709–716.
- [159] J.F. Ma, K. Tamai, N. Yamaji, N. Mitani, S. Konishi, M. Katsuhara, M. Ishiguro, Y. Murata, M. Yano, A silicon transporter in rice, Nature 440 (2006) 688–691.
- [160] T.P. Jahn, A.L. Moller, T. Zeuthen, L.M. Holm, D.A. Klaerke, B. Mohsin, W. Kuhlbrandt, J.K. Schjoerring, Aquaporin homologues in plants and mammals transport ammonia, FEBS Lett. 574 (2004) 31–36.
- [161] C. Dordas, M.J. Chrispeels, P.H. Brown, Permeability and channel-mediated transport of boric acid across membrane vesicles isolated from squash roots, Plant Physiol. 124 (2000) 1349–1362.
- [162] G.P. Bienert, M.D. Schussler, T.P. Jahn, Metalloids: essential, beneficial or toxic? Major intrinsic proteins sort it out, Trends Biochem. Sci. 33 (2008) 20–26.
- [163] P. Kjellbom, C. Larsson, I.I. Johansson, M. Karlsson, U. Johanson, Aquaporins and water homeostasis in plants, Trends Plant Sci. 4 (1999) 308–314.
- [164] A.R. Schäffner, Aquaporin function, structure, and expression: are there more surprises to surface in water relations? Planta 204 (1998) 131–139.
- [165] I. Johansson, M. Karlsson, V.K. Shukla, M.J. Chrispeels, C. Larsson, P. Kjellbom, Water transport activity of the plasma membrane aquaporin PM28A is regulated by phosphorylation, Plant Cell 10 (1998) 451–459.
- [166] I. Johansson, C. Larsson, B. Ek, P. Kjellbom, The major integral proteins of spinach leaf plasma membranes are putative aquaporins and are phosphorylated in response to Ca2+ and apoplastic water potential, Plant Cell 8 (1996) 1181–1191.
- [167] M. Bots, R. Feron, N. Uehlein, K. Weterings, R. Kaldenhoff, T. Mariani, PIP1 and PIP2 aquaporins are differentially expressed during tobacco anther and stigma development, J. Exp. Bot. 56 (2005) 113–121.
- [168] F. Chaumont, F. Barrieu, R. Jung, M.J. Chrispeels, Plasma membrane intrinsic proteins from maize cluster in two sequence subgroups with differential aquaporin activity, Plant Physiol. 122 (2000) 1025–1034.

- [169] D. Fotiadis, P. Jeno, T. Mini, S. Wirtz, S.A. Muller, L. Fraysse, P. Kjellbom, A. Engel, Structural characterization of two aquaporins isolated from native spinach leaf plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 1707–1714.
- [170] K. Fetter, V. Van Wilder, M. Moshelion, F. Chaumont, Interactions between plasma membrane aquaporins modulate their water channel activity, Plant Cell 16 (2004) 215–228.
- [171] E. Zelazny, J.W. Borst, M. Muylaert, H. Batoko, M.A. Hemminga, F. Chaumont, FRET imaging in living maize cells reveals that plasma membrane aquaporins interact to regulate their subcellular localization, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 12359–12364.
- [172] M. Mahdieh, A. Mostajeran, T. Horie, M. Katsuhara, Drought stress alters water relations and expression of PIP-type aquaporin genes in *Nicotiana tabacum* plants, Plant Cell Physiol. 49 (2008) 801–813.
- [173] E. Alexandersson, L. Fraysse, S. Sjovall-Larsen, S. Gustavsson, M. Fellert, M. Karlsson, U. Johanson, P. Kjellbom, Whole gene family expression and drought stress regulation of aquaporins, Plant Mol. Biol. 59 (2005) 469–484.
- [174] N. Uehlein, C. Lovisolo, F. Siefritz, R. Kaldenhoff, The tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is a membrane CO2 pore with physiological functions, Nature 425 (2003) 734–737.
- [175] A. Biela, K. Grote, B. Otto, S. Hoth, R. Hedrich, R. Kaldenhoff, The *Nicotiana tabacum* plasma membrane aquaporin NtAQP1 is mercury-insensitive and permeable for glycerol, Plant J. 18 (1999) 565–570.
- [176] G.V. Prasad, L.A. Coury, F. Finn, M.L. Zeidel, Reconstituted aquaporin 1 water channels transport CO2 across membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 33123–33126.
- [177] N. Uehlein, B. Otto, D.T. Hanson, M. Fischer, N. McDowell, R. Kaldenhoff, Function of *Nicotiana tabacum* aquaporins as chloroplast gas pores challenges the concept of membrane CO2 permeability, Plant Cell 20 (2008) 648–657.
- [178] J. Flexas, M. Ribas-Carbo, D.T. Hanson, J. Bota, B. Otto, J. Cifre, N. McDowell, H. Medrano, R. Kaldenhoff, Tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is involved in mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in vivo, Plant J. 48 (2006) 427–439.
- [179] L.C. Fraysse, B. Wells, M.C. McCann, P. Kjellbom, Specific plasma membrane aquaporins of the PIP1 subfamily are expressed in sieve elements and guard cells, Biol. Cell 97 (2005) 519–534.
- [180] C. Hachez, R.B. Heinen, X. Draye, F. Chaumont, The expression pattern of plasma membrane aquaporins in maize leaf highlights their role in hydraulic regulation, Plant Mol. Biol. 68 (2008) 337–353.
- [181] M. Dynowski, G. Schaaf, D. Loque, O. Moran, U. Ludewig, Plant plasma membrane water channels conduct the signalling molecule H2O2, Biochem. J. 414 (2008) 53–61.
- [182] F. Siefritz, M.T. Tyree, C. Lovisolo, A. Schubert, R. Kaldenhoff, PIP1 plasma membrane aquaporins in tobacco: from cellular effescts to function in plants, Plant Cell 14 (2002) 869–876.
- [183] M. Maeshima, Tonoplast transporters: organization and function, Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 52 (2001) 469–497.
- [184] A. Shapiguzov, Aquaporins: structure, systemics, and regulatory features, Russian J. Plant Physiol. 51 (2004) 127–137.
- [185] S. Delrot, S. Picaud, J.P. Gaudillère, S. Delrot, S. Picaud, J.P. Gaudillère, Water transport and aquaporins in grapevine, in: K.A. Roubelakis-Angelakis (Ed.), Molecular Biology and Biotechnology of Grapevine, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.
- [186] G.P. Bienert, A.L. Moller, K.A. Kristiansen, A. Schulz, I.M. Moller, J.K. Schjoerring, T. P. Jahn, Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 1183–1192.
- [187] M. Dynowski, M. Mayer, O. Moran, U. Ludewig, Molecular determinants of ammonia and urea conductance in plant aquaporin homologs, FEBS Lett. 582 (2008) 2458–2462.
- [188] P. Gerbeau, J. Guclu, P. Ripoche, C. Maurel, Aquaporin Nt-TIPa can account for the high permeability of tobacco cell vacuolar membrane to small neutral solutes, Plant. J. 18 (1999) 577–587.
- [189] F. Quigley, J.M. Rosenberg, Y. Shachar-Hill, H.J. Bohnert, From genome to function: the Arabidopsis aquaporins, Genome. Biol. 3 (2002) RESEARCH0001.
- [190] G.Y. Jauh, A.M. Fischer, H.D. Grimes, C.A. Ryan Jr., J.C. Rogers, delta-Tonoplast intrinsic protein defines unique plant vacuole functions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95 (1998) 12995–12999.
- [191] P. Fleurat-Lessard, P. Michonneau, M. Maeshima, J.-J. Drevon, R. Serraj, The distribution of aquaporin subtypes (PIP1, PIP2 and g-TIP) is tissue dependent in soybean (*Glycine max*) root nodules, Ann. Bot. 96 (2005) 457–460.
- [192] M.J. Daniels, F. Chaumont, T.E. Mirkov, M.J. Chrispeels, Characterization of a new vacuolar membrane aquaporin sensitive to mercury at a unique site, Plant Cell 8 (1996) 587–599.
- [193] K.D. Johnson, H. Hofte, M.J. Chrispeels, An intrinsic tonoplast protein of protein storage vacuoles in seeds is structurally related to a bacterial solute transporter (GIpF), Plant Cell 2 (1990) 525–532.
- [194] K. Shiratake, H. Goto, M. Maeshima, S. Yamaki, Fluctuations of the protein levels of H+-pumps and water channels of tonoplast and plasma membrane grape berry development, J. Japan. Soc. Hort. Sci. 70 (2001) 287–293.
- [195] K. Shiratake, Y. Kanayama, M. Maeshima, S. Yamaki, Changes in H(+)-pumps and a tonoplast intrinsic protein of vacuolar membranes during the development of pear fruit, Plant Cell Physiol. 38 (1997) 1039–1045.
- [196] K. Shiratake, E. Martinoia, Transporters in fruit vacuoles, Plant Biotechnol. 24 (2007) 127–133.
- [197] F. Chaumont, F. Barrieu, E.M. Herman, M.J. Chrispeels, Characterization of a maize tonoplast aquaporin expressed in zones of cell division and elongation, Plant Physiol. 117 (1998) 1143–1152.
- [198] F. Barrieu, F. Chaumont, M.J. Chrispeels, High expression of the tonoplast aquaporin ZmTIP1 in epidermal and conducting tissues of maize, Plant Physiol. 117 (1998) 1153–1163.

- [199] S. Ma, T.M. Quist, A. Ulanov, R. Joly, H.J. Bohnert, Loss of TIP1;1 aquaporin in Arabidopsis leads to cell and plant death, Plant J. 40 (2004) 845-859.
- [200] M.D. Schüssler, E. Alexandersson, G.P. Bienert, T. Kichey, K.H. Laursen, U. Johanson, P. Kjellbom, J.K. Schjoerring, T.P. Jahn, The effects of loss of TIP1;1 and TIP1;2 aquaporins in Arabidopsis thaliana, Plant J. 56 (2008) 756-767.
- [201] I.S. Wallace, W.G. Choi, D.M. Roberts, The structure, function and regulation of the nodulin 26-like intrinsic protein family of plant aquaglyceroporins, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 1165–1175.
- [202] M. Mizutani, S. Watanabe, T. Nakagawa, M. Maeshima, Aquaporin NIP2;1 is mainly localized to the ER membrane and shows root-specific accumulation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Plant Cell Physiol. 47 (2006) 1420–1426.
- [203] W.G. Choi, D.M. Roberts, Arabidopsis NIP2;1, a major intrinsic protein transporter of lactic acid induced by anoxic stress, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 24209–24218.
- [204] J. Takano, K. Miwa, T. Fujiwara, Boron transport mechanisms: collaboration of channels and transporters, Trends Plant Sci. 13 (2008) 451–457.
- [205] N. Yamaji, N. Mitatni, J.F. Ma, A transporter regulating silicon distribution in rice shoots, Plant Cell 20 (2008) 1381–1389.
- [206] J.F. Ma, N. Yamaji, N. Mitani, X.Y. Xu, Y.H. Su, S.P. McGrath, F.J. Zhao, Transporters of arsenite in rice and their role in arsenic accumulation in rice grain, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 9931–9935.
- [207] S.V. Isayenkov, F.J. Maathuis, The Arabidopsis thaliana aquaglyceroporin AtNIP7;1 is a pathway for arsenite uptake, FEBS Lett. 582 (2008) 1625–1628.
- [208] T. Kamiya, M. Tanaka, N. Mitani, J.F. Ma, M. Maeshima, T. Fujiwara, NIP1;1, an aquaporin homolog, determines the arsenite sensitivity of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 2114–2120.
- [209] U. Johanson, S. Gustavsson, A new subfamily of major intrinsic proteins in plants, Mol. Biol. Evol. 19 (2002) 456–461.
- [210] R. Fouquet, C. Leon, N. Ollat, F. Barrieu, Identification of grapevine aquaporins and expression analysis in developing berries, Plant Cell Rep. 27 (2008) 1541–1550.
- [211] S. Podell, M. Gribskov, Predicting N-terminal myristoylation sites in plant proteins, BMC Genomics 5 (2004) 1–15.
- [212] P. Agre, Nobel Lecture. Aquaporin water channels, Biosci. Rep. 24 (2004) 127–163.
- [213] R. Abu-Hamdah, W.J. Cho, S.J. Cho, A. Jeremic, M. Kelly, A.E. Ilie, B.P. Jena, Regulation of the water channel aquaporin-1: isolation and reconstitution of the regulatory complex, Cell. Biol. Int. 28 (2004) 7–17.
- [214] D. Reisen, N. Leborgne-Castel, C. Ozalp, F. Chaumont, F. Marty, Expression of a cauliflower tonoplast aquaporin tagged with GFP in tobacco suspension cells correlates with an increase in cell size, Plant Mol. Biol. 52 (2003) 387–400.
- [215] C. Tournaire-Roux, M. Sutka, H. Javot, E. Gout, P. Gerbeau, D.T. Luu, R. Bligny, C. Maurel, Cytosolic pH regulates root water transport during anoxic stress through gating of aquaporins, Nature 425 (2003) 393–397.
- [216] P. Gerbeau, G. Amodeo, T. Henzler, V. Santoni, P. Ripoche, C. Maurel, The water permeability of *Arabidopsis* plasma membrane is regulated by divalent cations and pH, Plant J. 30 (2002) 71–81.
- [217] K.L. Németh-Cahalan, K. Kalman, J.E. Hall, Molecular basis of pH and Ca<sup>2+</sup> regulation of aquaporin water permeability, J. Gen. Physiol. 123 (2004) 573–580.
- [218] W. Zhang, E. Zitron, M. Homme, L. Kihm, C. Morath, D. Scherer, S. Hegge, D. Thomas, C.P. Schmitt, M. Zeier, H. Katus, C. Karle, V. Schwenger, Aquaporin-1 channel function is positively regulated by protein kinase C, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 20933–20940.
- [219] X. Wan, E. Steudle, W. Hartung, Gating of water channels (aquaporins) in cortical cells of young corn roots by mechanical stimuli (pressure pulses): effects of ABA and of HgCl2, J. Exp. Bot. 55 (2004) 411–422.
- [220] W.H. Zhang, S.D. Tyerman, Inhibition of water channels by HgCl2 in intact wheat root cells, Plant Physiol. 120 (1999) 849–858.
- [221] C.M. Niemietz, S.D. Tyerman, New potent inhibitors of aquaporins: silver and gold compounds inhibit aquaporins of plant and human origin, FEBS Lett. 531 (2002) 443–447.
- [222] G. Calamita, The *Escherichia coli* aquaporin-Z water channel, Mol. Microbiol. 37 (2000) 254–262.
- [223] Q. Ye, E. Steudle, Oxidative gating of water channels (aquaporins) in corn roots, Plant Cell Environ. 29 (2006) 459–470.
- [224] N. Golestaneh, J. Fan, P. Zelenka, A.B. Chepelinsky, PKC putative phosphorylation site Ser235 is required for MIP/AQP0 translocation to the plasma membrane, Mol. Vis. 14 (2008) 1006–1014.
- [225] B.W. McDill, S.Z. Li, P.A. Kovach, L. Ding, F. Chen, Congenital progressive hydronephrosis (cph) is caused by an S256L mutation in aquaporin-2 that affects its phosphorylation and apical membrane accumulation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 6952–6957.
- [226] U. Hasler, S. Nielsen, E. Feraille, P.Y. Martin, Posttranscriptional control of aquaporin-2 abundance by vasopressin in renal collecting duct principal cells, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 290 (2006) F177–187.
- [227] D. Brown, T. Katsura, C.E. Gustafson, Cellular mechanisms of aquaporin trafficking, Am. J. Physiol. 275 (1998) F328-331.
- [228] R.A. Fenton, H.B. Moeller, J.D. Hoffert, M.J. Yu, S. Nielsen, M.A. Knepper, Acute regulation of aquaporin-2 phosphorylation at Ser-264 by vasopressin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 3134-3139.
- [229] J.D. Hoffert, J. Nielsen, M.J. Yu, T. Pisitkun, S.M. Schleicher, S. Nielsen, M.A. Knepper, Dynamics of aquaporin-2 serine-261 phosphorylation in response to short-term vasopressin treatment in collecting duct, Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 292 (2007) F691–700.
- [230] H.A. Lu, T.X. Sun, T. Matsuzaki, X.H. Yi, J. Eswara, R. Bouley, M. McKee, D. Brown, Heat shock protein 70 interacts with aquaporin-2 and regulates its trafficking, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 28721–28732.
- [231] F.I. Carreras, S.A. Gradilone, A. Mazzone, F. García, B.Q. Huang, J.E. Ochoa, P.S. Tietz, N.F. LaRusso, G. Calamita, R.A. Marinelli, Rat hepatocyte aquaporin-8 water

channels are down-regulated in extrahepatic cholestasis, Hepatology 37 (2003) 1026–1033.

- [232] R. Vera-Estrella, B.J. Barkla, H.J. Bohnert, O. Pantoja, Novel regulation of aquaporins during osmotic stress, Plant Physiol. 135 (2004) 2318–2329.
- [233] Y. Boursiac, S. Chen, D.T. Luu, M. Sorieul, N. van den Dries, C. Maurel, Early effects of salinity on water transport in *Arabidopsis* roots. Molecular and cellular features of aquaporin expression, Plant Physiol. 139 (2005) 790–805.
- [234] S. Prak, S. Hem, J. Boudet, G. Viennois, N. Sommerer, M. Rossignol, C. Maurel, V. Santoni, Multiple phosphorylations in the C-terminal tail of plant plasma membrane aquaporins: role in subcellular trafficking of AtPIP2;1 in response to salt stress, Mol. Cell Proteomics 7 (2008) 1019–1030.
- [235] D.G. Robinson, H. Sieber, W. Kammerloher, A.R. Schäffner, PIP1 aquaporins are concentrated in plasmalemmasomes of *Arabidopsis thaliana* mesophyll, Plant Physiol. 111 (1996) 645–649.
- [236] C. Hachez, M. Moshelion, E. Zelazny, D. Cavez, F. Chaumont, Localization and quantification of plasma membrane aquaporin expression in maize primary root: a clue to understanding their role as cellular plumbers, Plant Mol. Biol. 62 (2006) 305–323.
- [237] Y. Boursiac, J. Boudet, O. Postaire, D.T. Luu, C. Tournaire-Roux, C. Maurel, Stimulus-induced down-regulation of root water transport involves reactive oxygen species-activated cell signalling and plasma membrane intrinsic protein internalization, Plant J. 56 (2008) 207–218.
- [238] T.L. Anthony, H.L. Brooks, D. Boassa, S. Leonov, G.M. Yanochko, J.W. Regan, A.J. Yool, Cloned human aquaporin-1 is a cyclic GMP-gated ion channel, Mol. Pharmacol. 57 (2000) 576–588.
- [239] K. Liu, D. Kozono, Y. Kato, P. Agre, A. Hazama, M. Yasui, Conversion of aquaporin 6 from an anion channel to a water-selective channel by a single amino acid substitution, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 2192–2197.
- [240] C.A. Cowan, N. Yokoyama, L.M. Bianchi, M. Henkemeyer, B. Fritzsch, EphB2 guides axons at the midline and is necessary for normal vestibular function, Neuron 26 (2000) 417–430.
- [241] A.S. Fanning, J.M. Anderson, PDZ domains: fundamental building blocks in the organization of protein complexes at the plasma membrane, J. Clin. Invest. 103 (1999) 767–772.
- [242] C.A. Oliveira, K. Carnes, L.R. Franca, L. Hermo, R.A. Hess, Aquaporin-1 and -9 are differentially regulated by oestrogen in the efferent ductule epithelium and initial segment of the epididymis, Biol. Cell. 97 (2005) 385–395.
- [243] R.W. Schrier, M.A. Cadnapaphornchai, M. Ohara, Water retention and aquaporins in heart failure, liver disease and pregnancy, J. R. Soc. Med. 94 (2001) 265–269.
- [244] M. Ohara, P.Y. Martin, D.L. Xu, J. St. John, T.A. Pattison, J.K. Kim, R.W. Schrier, Upregulation of aquaporin 2 water channel expression in pregnant rats, J. Clin. Invest. 101 (1998) 1076–1083.
- [245] C. Maurel, M.J. Chrispeels, Aquaporins. A molecular entry into plant water relations, Plant. Physiol. 125 (2001) 135–138.
- [246] S. Kawasaki, C. Borchert, M. Deyholos, H. Wang, S. Brazille, K. Kawai, D. Galbraith, H.J. Bohnert, Gene expression profiles during the initial phase of salt stress in rice, Plant Cell 13 (2001) 889–905.
- [247] F.J. Maathuis, V. Filatov, P. Herzyk, G.C. Krijger, K.B. Axelsen, S. Chen, B.J. Green, Y. Li, K.L. Madagan, R. Sanchez-Fernandez, B.G. Forde, M.G. Palmgren, P.A. Rea, L.E. Williams, D. Sanders, A. Amtmann, Transcriptome analysis of root transporters reveals participation of multiple gene families in the response to cation stress, Plant. J. 35 (2003) 675–692.
- [248] R. Kaldenhoff, A. Kolling, G. Richter, A novel blue light-inducible and abscisic acid-inducible gene of *Arabidopsis-thaliana* encoding an intrinsic membraneprotein, Plant. Mol. Biol. 23 (1993) 1187–1198.
- [249] C. Zhu, D. Schraut, W. Hartung, A.R. Schäffner, Differential responses of maize MIP genes to salt stress and ABA, J. Exp. Botany 56 (2005) 2971–2981.
- [250] N. Yamaji, J.F. Ma, Spatial distribution and temporal variation of the rice silicon transporter Lsi1, Plant. Physiol. 143 (2007) 1306–1313.
- [251] K. Kalman, K.L. Németh-Cahalan, A. Froger, J.E. Hall, AQPO-LTR of the Cat<sup>Fr</sup> mouse alters water permeability and calcium regulation of wild type AQPO, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 1094–1099.
- [252] K. Varadaraj, S.S. Kumari, R. Patil, M.B. Wax, R.T. Mathias, Functional characterization of a human aquaporin 0 mutation that leads to a congenital dominant lens cataract, Exp. Eye Res. 87 (2008) 9–21.
- [253] Z. Zador, S. Stiver, V. Wang, G.T. Manley, Role of aquaporin-4 in cerebral edema and stroke, Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 190 (2009) 159–170.
- [254] J. Zhou, H. Kong, X. Hua, M. Xiao, J. Ding, G. Hu, Altered blood-brain barrier integrity in adult aquaporin-4 knockout mice, NeuroReport 19 (2008) 1–5.
- [255] V. Čeperuelo-Mallafré, M. Miranda, M.R. Chacón, N. Vilarrasa, A. Megia, C. Gutiérrez, J.M. Fernández-Real, J.M. Gómez, E. Caubet, G. Frühbeck, J. Vendrell, Adipose tissue expression of the glycerol channel aquaporin-7 gene is altered in severe obesity but not in type 2 diabetes, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92 (2007) 3640–3645.
- [256] V. Catalán, J. Gómez-Ambrosi, C. Pastor, F. Rotellar, C. Silva, A. Rodríguez, M.J. Gil, J.A. Cienfuegos, J. Salvador, J. Vendrell, G. Frühbeck, Influence of morbid obesity and insulin resistance on gene expression levels of AQP7 in visceral adipose tissue and AQP9 in liver, Obes. Surg. 18 (2008) 695–701.
- [257] N. Maeda, T. Hibuse, T. Funahashi, Role of aquaporin-7 and aquaporin-9 in glycerol metabolism; involvement in obesity, Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 190 (2009) 233-249.
- [258] P. Agre, L.S. King, M. Yasui, W.B. Guggino, O.P. Ottersen, Y. Fujiyoshi, A. Engel, S. Nielsen, Aquaporin water channels—from atomic structure to clinical medicine, J. Physiol. 542 (2002) 3–16.
- [259] L.S. King, M. Yasui, P. Agre, Aquaporins in health and disease, Mol. Med. Today. 6 (2000) 60-65.

- [260] C. Conde, P. Silva, A. Agasse, R.M. Tavares, S. Delrot, H. Gerós, An Hg-sensitive channel mediates the diffusional component of glucose transport in olive cells,
- Biochim, Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 2801–2811.
   W.L. DeLano, The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, DeLano Scientific, San Carlos, CA, USA, 2002.
- [262] F. Jeanmougin, J.D. Thompson, M. Gouy, D.G. Higgins, T.J. Gibson, Mul-

tiple sequence alignment with Clustal X, Trends Biochem. Sci. 23 (1998) 403–405.

- [263] J. Felsenstein, PHYLIP Phylogeny Inference Package (Version 3.2), Cladistics 5
- [205] J. Fersenstein, PHTEP Phylogeny Interence Package (Version 3.2), Claustics 5 (1989) 164–166.
   [264] J.J. Doyle, B.S. Gaut, Evolution of genes and taxa: a primer, Plant Mol. Biol. 42 (2000) 1–23.